
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
HISTORIC RESOURCES BOARD 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

Monday, July 18, 2016 
2:30 p.m. Tour of Inspection 

4:00 p.m. Open Session   
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
East side of Monte Verde Street 

Between Ocean and Seventh Avenues 
 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:    ERIK DYAR, CHAIR   
      KATHRYN GUALTIERI 
      JULIE WENDT 
      LYNN MOMBOISSE 
      THOMAS HOOD 
 
B.  TOUR OF INSPECTION 
 
Shortly after 2:30 p.m., the Board will leave the Council Chambers for an on-site Tour of 
Inspection.  The public is welcome to follow the Historic Resources Board on its tour of the 
subject sites.  The Board will return to the Council Chambers at 4:00 p.m., or as soon 
thereafter as possible. 
 
C.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
D.  APPEARANCES 
 
Anyone wishing to address the Board on matters within the jurisdiction of the Board may do 
so now.  Please state the matter on which you wish to speak.  Matters not appearing on the 
Board’s agenda will not receive action at this meeting, but may be referred to staff for a future 
meeting.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes, or as established by the Board.  
Persons are not required to give their name or address, but it is helpful for speakers to state 
their name in order that the Secretary may identify them.  
 
E.   CONSENT AGENDA 
 
1. Minutes from the May 16, 2016 Historic Resources Board Meeting  
 
 
F.  ITEM 
 
1.  Mills Act Memo                                                   Discussion of Mills Act Contract    
                                                                                 Policy and ranking the 4 applications   
                                                  

Historic Resources Board Meeting - Agenda 
July 18, 2016 

Page 1 
1



 
 
2. MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 
    Scott and Robbin Lonergan 
    NE corner of Dolores St. &12th  Ave.      
    Block: 131, Lot: 14 
    APN: 010-154-005 
 
 

 Consideration of a recommendation to the 
City Council to adopt a Resolution to add a 
Historic Resource to the Carmel Register 
for purposes of approving a Mills Act (MA 
16-203) Contract for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

   
3. MA 16-264 (Slingerlend/Speers) 
    Brad Slingerlend and Anna Speers 
    NW Corner of Santa Lucia Avenue and 

San Carlos Street. 
    Block: 143, Lot: 31, 33 and 35 
    APN: 010-165-015 

 Consideration of a recommendation to the 
City Council to adopt a Resolution to add a 
Historic Resource to the Carmel Register 
for purposes of approving a Mills Act (MA 
16-264) Contract for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

   
4. MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 
    Ken and Sharon Holtkamp 
    SW corner of San Carlos St. and  
    12th Ave. 
    Block: 143, Lot: 31, 33, 35  
    APN: 010-164-001 
 

 Consideration of a recommendation to the 
City Council to adopt a Resolution to add a 
Historic Resource to the Carmel Register 
for purposes of approving a Mills Act (MA 
16-269) Contract for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

   
5. MA 16-246 (Rheaume) 
    Ken Rheaume 
    Vista Avenue, 2 NW of Mission Avenue 
 Block: 4-1/2, Lot: West ½ of 17 and 19 
     APN: 010-115-006 
 
 
 

 Consideration of a recommendation to the 
City Council to adopt a Resolution to add a 
Historic Resource to the Carmel Register 
for purposes of approving a Mills Act (MA 
16-246) Contract for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

   
6. DR 16-229 (La Playa Hotel) 
    Carmel Hotel Properties 
 SW corner of Camino Real and 8th Ave. 
 Block: O, Lot: 1-12 
 APN: 010-264-007 
 

 Consideration of a roof-mounted sound 
wall and visual barrier (DR 16-229) for an 
existing historic hotel located in the Multi-
Family Residential (R-4) Zoning District.   

 
 

  

7. SI 16-284 (Golden Bough) 
    Dennis Levett 
 SE corner of Monte Verde and Ocean. 
 Block: 74, Lots: 5 & 6 
 APN: 010-210-009 

 Review of a Sign Application (SI 16-284) 
for the installation of a new interpretative 
panel at the Golden Bough Courtyard 

Historic Resources Board Meeting - Agenda 
July 18, 2016 

Page 2 
2



 
 
 
   
G.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

1. Monthly Activity Report 
 
H. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
I. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 

J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS 
  
 
K.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Historic Resources Board 
regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public inspection in the 
Planning and Building Department located at City Hall, on Monte Verde between Ocean 
and 7th Avenues during normal business hours. 
 
The next regular meeting of the Historic Resources Board is TBD. 
      
The City of Carmel-by-the-Sea does not discriminate against persons with disabilities.  The 
City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Telecommunication’s Device for the Deaf/Speech Impaired 
(TDD) number is 1-800-735-2929. 
 
The City Council Chambers is equipped with a portable microphone for anyone unable to 
come to the podium.  Assisted listening devices are available upon request to the Board 
Secretary.  If you need assistance, please advise the Board Secretary what item you 
would like to comment on, and the microphone will be brought to you. 
 
AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 

I, Marc E. Wiener, Interim Community Planning and Building Director, for the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California, that the foregoing notice was posted at the Carmel-by-the-Sea City Hall 
bulletin board, posted at the Harrison Memorial Library on Ocean and Lincoln, July 15, 
2016. 
 
Dated this 15th day of July, 2016, at the hour of 4:00 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Marc Wiener, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Historic Resources Board Meeting - Agenda 
July 18, 2016 

Page 3 
3



MINUTES 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
HISTORIC RESOURCES BOARD 

May 16, 2016 
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
East side of Monte Verde Street 

Between Ocean and Seventh Avenues 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Erik Dyar at 4:04 p.m.  

PRESENT:  Erik Dyar, Chair  
Julie Wendt 
Lynn Momboisse 

 
ABSENT:  Elinor Laiolo 

Kathryn Gualtieri 
 

  
 STAFF PRESENT: Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director 

Catherine Tarone, Assistant Planner  
Cortina Whitmore, Historic Resources Board Secretary 
 

B. TOUR OF INSPECTION 
N/A 
 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 Members of the audience joined the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
D. APPEARANCES 

N/A 
 

E. CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Consideration of the minutes of the April 18, 2016 Historic Resources Board 

Meeting. 
 

Board Member Wendt moved to approve April 18, 2016 Historic Resources Board 
Meeting minutes with corrections. Motion seconded by Board Member Momboisse 
and carried by the following roll call vote: 3-0-2-0. 
 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS: DYAR, WENDT & MOMBOISSE 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 

4



ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS: LAIOLO & GUALTIER 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 

 
 
F. ITEM 

 
1.  DS 16-051 (Taylor) 

            Craig Holdren 
            NW corner of Camino Real & Ocean 
            Block: GG, Lot: 1,3 & 5 
            APN: 010-252-011 
        

 Consideration of a Design Study (DS 16-051) 
application for alteration to a historic 
residence located in the Single-Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District 

Catherine Tarone, Assistant Planner presented the staff report. Ms. Tarone provided 
project history, summarized design changes and noted Kent Seavy the City’s historic 
Consultant as well as staff recommends a Determination of Consistency.  Ms. Tarone 
answered questions from the Board.  
 
Chair Dyar opened the public hearing. 
 
Speaker #1: Applicant/Architect provided further design details and answered questions 
from the Historic Resources Board.  
 
Speaker #2: Linda Taylor, Owner noted her love of the property and intent to maintain 
the integrity of the home.  
 
Seeing no other speakers, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Board Members held brief discussion. The Board spoke favorably of the Architect 
addressing Board member concerns.  

 
Chair Dyar motioned to issue a Determination of Consistency with the Secretary of 
Standards with the added condition the SW deck is clad in same shingles. Motion 
seconded by Board Member Wendt and carried by the following roll call vote: 3-0-2-0. 
 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS: DYAR, WENDT & MOMBOISSE 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS: LAIOLO & GUALTIER 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
 
 
 
 

5



 
2.  MP 16-002 (City War Memorial) 

            American Legion Post 512 
            Ocean and San Carlos 
                        

 Consideration of Municipal Project (MP 16-
002) for the replacement of the War 
Memorial Bell on the Ocean Ave. median, at 
the intersection of Ocean Ave. and San 
Carlos Street 

Marc Wiener, Acting Planning Director presented the staff report noted the City Council 
accepted the proposal and that staff recommends an issuance of a Determination of 
Consistency with the Secretary of Standards.  
 
Chair Dyar opened the public hearing.  
 
Speaker #1: Richard Kreitman provided presentation and shop drawings for the 
proposed Memorial Bell. 
 
Speaker#2: Ian Martin, Carmel resident provided design details and noted the use of 
Golden Ratio to confirm Charles Sumner Greene’s Bell’s design and bell proportions.  
 
Speaker #1: Richard Kreitman spoke to the brackets indicated on the Bell design.  
 
Speaker #3: Paul Rodriguez, Representative from the Carmel American Legion Post 512 
concluded the discussion informing the Board the Bell installment will end a 100 year 
project. 
 
Chair Dyar closed the public hearing.  
 
Board Members held discussion. Chair Dyar reopened public hearing to allow previous 
Speakers to answer Board questions. Chair Dyar, Wendt, and Momboisse noted their 
support Mr. John Kolstad’s drawings and requested the brackets return to the Board for 
consideration.  

 
Board Member Wendt moved to issue a Determination of Consistency as presented 
based on Mr. Kolstad’s drawing. Motion seconded by Board Member Momboisse and 
carried by the following roll call vote: 3-0-2-0. 
 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS: DYAR, WENDT & MOMBOISSE 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS: LAIOLO & GUALTIERI 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
 
 
 

6



 G.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

1. Monthly Activity Report 
Marc Wiener, Acting Planning Director announced his intent to bring forward proposed 
new amendments at the June 2016 Historic Resources meeting. Mr. Wiener also 
announced the formation of the War Memorial Subcommittee tasked with drafting a 
policy for the treatment, care and maintenance of the City’s War Memorials which will 
be heard by the Historic Resources Board.  Mr. Wiener informed the Board several Mills 
Act Applications will appear on the Historic Resources Board upcoming agendas.  

H.  SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT   

1. Discussion on Home of the Month Subcommittee 
Julie Wendt informed the Board she submitted an article for the “Home of the Month” 
to Paul Miller of the Carmel Pine Cone and noted the home featured in the article will 
be included on the upcoming Bach Tours. Mr. Wiener informed the Board the Mid-
Century/Modern subcommittee needs new members.  

I. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 N/A 
 
J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Board Member Wendt noted the Historic Resources Board will still need to approve the 
March 21, 2016 Board meeting minutes. 
 

K. ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned 
at 5:23 p.m. 

 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Cortina Whitmore, Historic Resources Board Secretary  
 
 ATTEST: 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Erik Dyar, Chair 
 

 

 

7



 
 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY PLANNING & BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

 
July 18, 2016 

 
 

TO:  Chair Dyar and Board Members 
 
FROM:  Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning & Building Director 
 
SUBJECT: Mills Act Contracts 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Board Members, 
 
Before you today are 4 Mills Act contract applications.  A Mills Act Policy adopted by the City in 
2010 (see attached) allows a maximum of 3 Mills Act contracts per calendar year.  The Council 
was supposed to review the Policy after five years, however, the review has not yet occurred.  
When these Mills Act contracts go before the City Council with a recommendation from the 
HRB, staff will also include a review of the Mills Act Policy and will request that the Council 
considering allowing more than 3 contracts per year or that a certain number be allowed over a 
multi-year period (ex. 9 contracts over 3 years).  Nevertheless, staff is requesting that these 4 
Mills Act applications be ranked, should the Council decide to continue only allowing 3 
contracts per year.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8



 
 

CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2010- 
 

CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A LIMIT ON THE NUMBER OF 
MILLS ACT CONTRACTS THAT CAN BE APPROVED FOR RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 

TO THREE DURING ANY CALENDER YEAR AND REQUIRING THE CITY COUNCIL 
TO EVALUATE THE PROGRAM AFTER FIVE YEARS      

    
 
WHEREAS, The City of Carmel-by-the-Sea is a unique community that prides itself in 

its historic character; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the City has adopted a General Plan and Municipal Code that strive to 
protect the village character through clear policies and regulations that guide historic 
preservation; and       

 
WHEREAS, the Mills Act was adopted by the State of California in 1972; and  
 
WHEREAS, jurisdictions are not required to implement the Mills Act; and  
 
WHEREAS, participating jurisdictions may establish specific application requirements to 

suit local needs; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the Mills Act as a potential benefit to property owners of 

historic resources as part of the Local Coastal Program; and   
 
WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the potential benefits of the program but also 

the potential fiscal impacts that could result from the unlimited approval of Mills Act Contracts; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, establishing a limit on the number of contracts that can be approved during 

any calendar year will allow the City to implement the Mills Act Program without significantly 
impacting a revenue source that is vital to the City’s operating budget; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council shall review the Mills Act Program in five years to 

determine the effectiveness of the program, evaluate its fiscal impact and to determine whether 
Contracts shall continue to be offered in the future.   

 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA does hereby:  

 
1. Limit the number of Mills Act Contracts that can be approved for 

residential properties during any calendar year to three (3).   

9



2. Require the City Council to review the Mills Act Program in five (5) years 
to determine whether to continue offering Mills Act Contracts.   

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA this ___ day of ________ 2008 by the following roll call vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS 
NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS 
ABSENT:  COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 
        SIGNED, 
 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        SUE McCLOUD, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Heidi Burch, Assistant City Administrator 
 

10



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Erik Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, AICP, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Consideration of a recommendation to the City Council to adopt a 
Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel Register for purposes 
of approving a Mills Act Contract (MA 16-203) for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommend that the City Council adopt a Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel 
Register for purposes of approving a Mills Act contract. 
 
Application: MA 16-203 APN:  010-154-005 
Block:  131                                   Lot:  14 
Location: Northeast Corner Dolores Street and 12th Avenue 
Property Owner:  Scott and Robbin Lonergan  
 
Background:  
 
The subject property is located at the northeast corner of Dolores Street and Twelfth Avenue 
and is developed with a 1,042-square foot vernacular-style residence that was built in 
1929/1930 by one of Carmel’s Designer/Builders, Mr. Frederick Bigland (1889 – 1971).  Mr. 
Bigland is listed in the Historic Context Statement as one of the notable Designers and Builders 
of Carmel.  The residence was constructed for Mr. Lloyd Miller (thus reference to the “Lloyd C. 
Miller Cottage” in DPR Form 523), an early Carmel gas station owner/operator.  There is also an 
approximately 352 square foot detached garage that was also built in 1930 by Mr. Bigland.   
 
In November 2015, the property owner submitted an Appeal of Administrative Decision (APP 
15-292) to add the residence to the City’s Historic Resources Inventory.  The appeal was denied 

11



MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
through resolution of the Historic Resources Board.  On November 27, 2015, the residence was 
listed on the Carmel Inventory of Historic Resources.  The resolution was filed with the County 
Recorder on February 17, 2016 (Document:  2016007921).   
 
On May 20, 2016, the property owner submitted an application for a Mills Act contract.  The 
Mills Act was enacted by the State of California in 1972 as a way of encouraging partnerships 
between local governments and property owners of historic resources.  Carmel is a voluntary 
participant in the Mills Act program.   
 
The Mills Act contract is for a period of 10 years and includes renewal provisions.  The property 
owner agrees to specific rehabilitation/restoration efforts that occur over the life of the 
contract.  In turn, the property owner receives a reduced property tax assessment.  The 
assessment is performed by the Monterey County Assessor’s Office.  The City benefits by having 
historic resources rehabilitated and maintained, while the property owner benefits by having a 
reduced tax burden. 
 
The City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32.100) offers Mills Act contracts as a 
potential benefit to property owners of historic resources that are listed on the City’s Historic 
Register.  The HRB is advisory to the City Council on Mills Act contracts.  Staff notes that this is 
one of four Mills Act applications received by the City since the beginning of 2016 – all received 
since May 20; it is City policy to only allow three contracts each year.   
 
Staff analysis:  
 
Municipal Code Section 17.32.100.B.6 establishes specific findings that must be made by the 
Historic Resources Board and City Council in order for the property to qualify for a Mills Act 
contract.  The following is a list of the required findings and a staff analysis on how the proposal 
complies with the requirements. 
 
Finding #1: The building is designated as an historic resource by the City. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a 
local or regional level in the Inventory, shall be eligible for listing in the Register only at the 
request of the property owner.”  By resolution, the residence was designated as a historic 
resource on November 27, 2015, and placed on the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources.  The 
Resolution Designating a Historic Resource was recorded with the County Recorder on February 
17, 2016 (Document # 2016007921).  However, the residence is not currently on the City’s 

12



MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
Historic Register.  Getting on the Carmel Register is a precondition to approving a Mills Act 
Contract.  Therefore, this Mills Act application includes a Resolution qualifying the residence as 
a Primary Resource and eligible to be on the Carmel Register.  This Resolution must be recorded 
with the County so as to enable the Mills Act Contract to take affect.   
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a 
residence)  should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  
criteria  for  listing  in  the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   
significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local 
resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) (3): 
 

1. Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  
patterns  of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the 
United States; 

2. Is  associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national 
history; 

3. Embodies  the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of 
construction, or represents the work of a master, an important creative individual, or 
possesses  high artistic values; or 

4. Has  yielded,  or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory 
or history of the local area, California or the nation 

 
The City’s Municipal Code does not provide a clear distinction between the Historic Inventory 
and Historic Register, but does indicate that the Register is a higher level of historic designation.  
Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a State or 
National level in the Inventory, shall be automatically listed in the Register.”  The DPR 523 Form 
prepared for the Lonergan residence indicates that it is significant under criterion 3, in the area 
of architecture, thereby qualifying this residence for the Carmel Register. 
 
Finding #2:  The proposed rehabilitation and maintenance plan is appropriate in scope and 
sufficient in detail to guide rehabilitation and long-term maintenance.  Required maintenance 
and rehabilitation should be more significant than just routine maintenance that would be 
expected for any property. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.010 requires that the applicant submit a 
rehabilitation/restoration and maintenance plan for the historic resource prepared or reviewed 

13



MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
by a qualified professional together with a cost estimate of the work to be done.  The applicant 
has submitted the required plan, which is included as Attachment B.  The plan was reviewed by 
Historic Preservation Consultant, Kent Seavey, who generally supports the maintenance plan 
and has concluded that it meets the intent of the Mills Act Program requirements, but 
recommends the following amendments to the maintenance program/Schedule of Work: 
 

1. “Repair” (not replace) exterior bathroom door and front entry door; and  
2. Replacing the mal-functioning toilets, bathroom fans and misc. house repairs 

does not constitute legitimate work under the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards; 

 
The issuance of a Mills Act contract states that the work done “should be more significant than 
just routine maintenance that would be expected for any property.”  The proposed work is a mix 
of significant and routine maintenance, which is typical of many Mills Act projects.  The 
significant work includes restoring steel casement window, repair and paint damaged rafter 
tails, correcting east elevation drainage issues, replace sill plates and sub-floor wall framing 
damaged from uncontrolled drainage from the east side of the property, and restoration of 
garage doors.   
 
Finding #3:  Alterations to the historic resource have been in the past, and will continue to be in 
the future, limited to interior work and to exterior rehabilitation and alterations that: 
 

(A) Comply with the Secretary’s Standards (future additions only), and 
(B) Do not significantly alter, damage or diminish any primary elevation or character-

defining feature, and 
(C) Do not increase floor area on the property by more than 15 percent beyond the 

amount established in the documented original or historic design of the resource, 
and 

(D) Do not result in any second-story addition to a single-story historic resource 
(E) Meet all zoning standards applicable to the location of the property. 

 
Analysis:  The residence has maintained its original size and footprint with no significant 
alterations.  Staff notes that any future alterations would be required to be consistent with the 
Secretary’s Standards and consistent with the above noted requirements.   No changes are 
proposed at this time. 
 

14



MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 5  
 
Finding #4:  The Mills Act contract will aid in offsetting the costs of rehabilitating and/or 
maintaining the historic resource and/or will offset potential losses of income that might 
otherwise be achieved on the property. 
 
Analysis:  The approval of this contract will assist in offsetting future costs of maintenance and 
will offset potential losses of income that might otherwise be achieved on the site had the 
residence not been identified as an historic resource. 
 
Finding #5:  Approval of the Mills Act contract will represent an equitable balance of public and 
private interests and will not result in substantial adverse financial impact on the City. 
 
Analysis:  Approval of the Mills Act Contract will be consistent with Goal 1-5 and Objective 1-16 
of the Land Use Element of the General Plan which encourages providing incentives for 
property owners to preserve and rehabilitate historic resources.  Although the adoption of all 
Mills Act Contracts will decrease the property taxes available to the City, this financial impact is 
minimal because:  1) only a limited number of properties can meet the requirements for a 
contract, 2) only a portion of the property tax from any single property will be lost, 3) only 
three new Mills Act contracts are allowed per year, and 4) the lost revenue to the City is offset 
by the value of preserving an important historic resource.  This contract represents an equitable 
balance of public and private interests.   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Legal Property Description 
• Attachment B – Restoration/Maintenance Plan (10 years) 
• Attachment C – Photographs of Property 
• Attachment D – DPR 523 Form  
• Attachment E – Secretary of the Interior Standards 
• Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
• Attachment G – Resolution for Carmel Register  

15



16

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



Mills Act Work Plan for NE Corner Dolores & 12th

MA 16-203 application completed June 15, 2016; Applicant: Scott Lonergan

1

 7/15/2016 Work Plan 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

1
Replace deteriorated driveway, walkway, and steps leading to 

front gate
$7,000

2
Maintain Live Oak(6) and Moterey Pine (11) trees, landscaping, 

fencing, walkways, and brick façade
$500 $500 $300 $300 $300 $300 $300 $300 $300 $300

3
Control erosion at Dolores & 12th with landscaping and decorative 

garden edging
$2,000 $1,000

4 Rehabilitate / paint steel casement windows $15,000

5 Repair and paint damaged rafter tails and eaves $5,000

6 Correct east elevation drainage (& safety) issues $10,000

7 Add rain guides and/or copper gutters at east elevation $1,000

8
Replace sill plates and wall framing damaged from water seepage 

at east elevation
$1,000

9 Repair/Replace weather damaged exterior bathroom door $4,000 $3,000

10 Repair/Replace damaged  front entry door (with dutch door) $6,000

11 Rehabilitate of garage doors; termite fumigation (entire garage) $7,000

12 Miscellaneous house repairs $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100 $100

13
Repair/Replace floor below stacked washer & dryer in kitchen 

pantry
$7,000

17

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



2

Southeast elevation

18

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



3

Southwest elevation

19



4

West elevation

20



5

Replace garage driveway and walkway

21



6

Maintain walkways and brick facade

22



7

Control erosion with landscaping and decorative edging

… along 12th … along Dolores

23



8

Repair and paint rafter tails and eaves

24



9

Correct east elevation drainage issues 
- View of damaged sill under house at south elevation of front porch

25



10

Correct east elevation drainage issues 
- View of damaged sill under house at east elevation at front porch

26



11

Correct east elevation drainage (& safety) issues

27



12

Correct east elevation drainage (& safety) issues

28



Repair/Replace damaged bathroom and front doors

13

Front Door: Half inch 
warp beyond spec at 

bottom of water-
damaged door

Bathroom Door: InsideBathroom Door: Outside

29



14

Restore garage 
doors

30



15

Replace floor below stacked washer & dryer

31



32

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment D



33



34



35



36



 
SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS FOR THE TREATMENT 

OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES (Rehabilitation) 
 
1. “A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 
requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and 
environment." 
 
2. "The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The 
removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a 
property shall be avoided." 
 
3. "Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 
use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be 
undertaken."  
 
4. "Most properties change over time; changes that have acquired historic 
significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved."  
 
5. "Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved." 
 
6. "Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where 
the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by 
documentary, physical, and pictorial evidence." 
 
7. "Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 
historic materials shall not be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, 
shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible." 
 
8. "Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected 
and preserved.  If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken. 
 
9. "New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not 
destroy historic materials that characterize the property.  The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 
architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment." 
 
10. "New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired." 

37

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
CITY CLERK 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
NAME:  CITY CLERK 
  CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
ADDRESS: CITY HALL 
  PO DRAWER G 
  CARMEL, CA 93921 
 

CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
MILLS ACT AGREEMENT 

HISTORIC PROPERTY PRESERVATION CONTRACT 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of December, 2016 by and between the 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and Scott 
and Robbin Lonergan (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”). 
 
RECITALS 

 
(i) California Government Code Section 50280, et seq. (known as the Mills Act) authorizes 

cities to enter into contracts with the owners of qualified historic properties to provide for 
their appropriate use, maintenance and restoration such that these historic properties 
retain their historic characteristics; 

 
(ii) The Owner possesses fee title in and to that certain real property, together with associated 

structures and improvements thereon, located at the northeast corner of Dolores Street 
and 12th Avenue (APN: 010-154-005), Carmel, California, (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Historic Property”).  A legal description of the Historic Property is attached hereto, 
marked as Exhibit “A” and is incorporated herein by this reference; 

 
(iii) The property is identified as an historic resource on the City of Carmel’s Register of 

Historic Resources; 
 

(iv) City and Owner, for their mutual benefit, now desire to enter into this Agreement both to 
protect and preserve the characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property, 
and to qualify the Historic Property for an assessment of valuation pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 1.9 (commencing with section 439) of Chapter 3 of Part 2 of 
Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City and Owner, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
contained herein, do hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM.  This Agreement shall be effective and commence on 

1 January 2017, unless otherwise indicated by Monterey County, and shall remain in 
effect for a term of ten (10) years thereafter. 

 
2. AUTOMATIC RENEWAL.  Each year, upon the anniversary of the effective date of this 

Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “annual renewal date”), one (1) year shall be added 
automatically to the term of this Agreement, unless timely notice of nonrenewal is given 

38



as provided in paragraph 3 of this Agreement.  The total length of the contract shall not 
exceed twenty (20) years.   

 
3. NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If City or Owner desires in any year not to renew this 

Agreement, that party shall serve written notice of nonrenewal in advance of the annual 
renewal date of this Agreement as follows:  Owner must serve written notice of 
nonrenewal at least ninety (90) days prior to the annual renewal date; City must serve 
written notice of the nonrenewal at least sixty (60) days prior to the annual renewal date.  
Upon receipt by Owner of a notice of nonrenewal from the City, Owner may make a 
written protest.  At any time prior to the annual renewal date, City may withdraw its 
notice of nonrenewal. 

 
4. EFFECT OF NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If either City or Owner serves timely 

notice of nonrenewal in any year, and this contract is not renewed, this Agreement shall 
remain in effect only for the remaining nine (9) years from the last annual renewal date. 

 
5. VALUATION OF PROPERTY.  During the term of this Agreement, Owner is entitled to 

seek assessment of valuation of the Historic Property pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 3 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
6. PRESERVATION OF PROPERTY. Owner shall preserve and maintain the 

characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property.  Attached hereto marked 
as Exhibit “B”, and incorporated herein by this reference, is a list of those minimum 
standards and conditions for maintenance, use and preservation of the Historic Property, 
which shall apply to such property throughout the term of this Agreement.  The Owner 
agrees to complete rehabilitation and/or maintenance activities of the structure and 
comply with such conditions as specified in Exhibit “B” including the conditions outlined 
by the City’s Historic Preservation Consultant.   Requests for substantial revisions to the 
maintenance and rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed by the Historic Resources Board 
prior to implementation.  In addition, Owner shall comply with the terms of the City’s 
Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32).  Owners shall not be permitted to further 
impede the view corridor with any new structure, such as walls, fences, or shrubbery, so 
as to prevent the viewing of the Historic Property from the public right-of-way. 

 
7. RESTORATION OF PROPERTY.  Owner shall, where necessary, restore and 

rehabilitate the Historic Property to conform to the rules and regulations of the Office of 
Historic Preservation of the State Department of Parks and Recreation, U. S. Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, State Historical Building Code, and the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, all as amended.  This scope of work could exceed that defined in the 
Owner’s work program included as Attachment B. 

 
8. INSPECTIONS.  Owner shall allow periodic examinations, with reasonable notice 

thereof, of the interior and exterior of the Historic Property by representatives of the 
County Assessor, the State Department of Parks and Recreation, the State Board of 
Equalization, the City and other agencies as may be necessary to determine Owner’s 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. PROVISION OF INFORMATION.  Owner shall furnish the City with any and all 

information requested by City, which City deems necessary or advisable to determine 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
10. ANNUAL REPORT.  Owner shall submit an annual report at least 90 days prior to each 

annual renewal date to the Department of Planning and Building specifying all work that 
has been done to maintain and preserve the historic resource over the preceding year in 
compliance with the approved maintenance plan. 

39



 
11. CANCELLATION.  The City has the right to cancel the contract if the historic resource 

is damaged or destroyed by unauthorized additions, alterations or remodeling.  The City 
also has the right to cancel this contract if the owners(s) have repeatedly failed to comply 
with the provisions of paragraph’s # 6, 7, 8 or 10 of this Agreement after the City has 
provided reasonable notice of any failure to comply with the agreement.  Cancellation of 
a contract by the City consistent with the provisions of this paragraph requires a public 
hearing and, if cancelled, results in the immediate termination of the contract and a 
penalty equal to 12.5 percent of the assessed market value of the property.  City’s right to 
cancel this Agreement pursuant to this paragraph shall in no way limit or restrict its rights 
or legal remedies arising from City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance and Municipal 
Code. 

 
12. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In lieu of and/or in addition to any provisions to 

cancel this Agreement as referenced herein, City may specifically enforce, or enjoin the 
breach of, the terms of this Agreement. 

 
13. WAIVER.  City does not waive any claim or default by Owner if City does not enforce or 

cancel this Agreement.  All remedies at law or in equity, which are not otherwise 
provided for this Agreement or in City’s regulations governing historic properties are 
available to City to pursue in the event there is a breach of this Agreement.  No waiver by 
City of any breach or default under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any 
other subsequent breach thereof or default hereunder. 

 
14. BINDING EFFECT OF AGREEMENT.  Owner hereby subjects the Historic Property to 

the covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth in this Agreement.  City and Owner 
hereby declare their specific intent that the covenants, reservations, and restrictions as set 
forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with the land and shall pass to and be 
binding upon Owner’s successors and assigns in title or interest to the Historic Property.  
A successor in interest shall have the same rights and obligations under this Agreement as 
the original owner who executed the Agreement. 

 
Each and every contract, deed or other instrument hereinafter executed, governing or 
conveying the Historic Property, or any portion thereof, shall conclusively be held to 
have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to the covenants, reservations and 
restrictions expressed in this Agreement regardless of whether such covenants, 
reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instrument. 
 
City and Owner hereby declare their understanding and intent that the burden of the 
covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein touch and concern the land in that 
it restricts development of the Historic Property.  City and Owner hereby further declare 
their understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants, reservations and 
restrictions touch and concern the land by enhancing and maintaining the cultural and 
historic characteristics and significance of the Historic Property for the benefit of the 
public and Owner. 

 
15. NOTICE.  Any notice required to be given by the terms of this Agreement shall be 

provided at the address of the respective parties as specified below, by personal delivery 
or United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
City:   Carmel-by-the-Sea 
   Community Development Department 
   PO Drawer G 
   Carmel, CA 93921 
 

40



 
Owner:    Scott and Robbin Lonergan  
               PO Box 3755 
               Carmel, CA 93921 
 

16. Recordation.  No later than twenty (20) days after the parties execute and enter into this 
Agreement, the City shall cause this Agreement to be recorded in the Office of the 
County Recorder of the County of Monterey. 

 
17. The Owner or agent of Owner shall provide written notice of this Agreement to the State 

Office of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of the date of this Agreement. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement shall be constructed and governed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Should either party to this agreement 
bring legal action against the other, the case shall be handled in Monterey County, 
California and the party prevailing in such action shall be entitled to a reasonable attorney 
fee which shall be fixed by the judge hearing the case and such fee shall be included in 
the judgment together with all costs.   

 
19. Amendments.  This agreement may be amended in whole or in part, only by a written-

recorded instrument executed by the parties hereto. 
 
20. DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY; EMINENT DOMAIN; CANCELLATION.  If the 

Historic Property is destroyed by earthquake, fire, flood, or other natural disaster such 
that in the opinion of the City Building Official more than sixty percent (60%) of the 
original fabric of the structure must be preplaced, this Agreement shall be cancelled 
because the historic value of the structure will have been destroyed.  If the Historic 
Property is acquired in whole or in part by eminent domain or other acquisition by any 
entity authorized to exercise the power of eminent domain, and the acquisition is 
determined by the City Council to frustrate the purpose of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall be cancelled.  No cancellation fee pursuant to Government Code Section 
50286 shall be imposed if the Agreement is cancelled pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION.  Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City and its 

elected officials, officers, agents and employees from any actual or alleged claims, 
demands, causes of action, liability, loss, damage, or injury to property or persons, 
including wrongful death, whether imposed by a court of law or by administrative action 
of any federal, state or local government agency, arising out of or incident to the direct or 
indirect use, operation, or maintenance of the Historic Property by Owner or any 
contractor, subcontractor, employee, agent, lessee, licensee, invitee, or any other person; 
(ii) Owner’s activities in connection with the Historic Property; and (iii) any restriction 
on the use of development of the Historic Property, from application or enforcement of 
the City’s Municipal Code, or from the enforcement of this Agreement.  This 
indemnification includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, 
judgments, awards, decrees, attorneys’ fees, and related costs or expenses, and the 
reimbursement of the City, its elected officials, employees, and/or agents for all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by each of them.  Owner’s obligation to indemnify shall 
survive the termination, cancellation, or expiration of this Agreement and shall not be 
restricted to insurance proceeds, if any, received by City, its elected officials, employees, 
or agents. 

 
22. SEVERABILITY.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to 

be unenforceable or invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by subsequent 
preemptive legislation, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions, or 
portions thereof, shall not be affected thereby. 

41



 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the City and Owners have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written above. 
 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA: 
 
 
By: _______________________   Date: __________________ 
 
Name: Chip Rerig  
 
Title: City Administrator  
 
 
PROPERTY OWNERs: 
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Scott Lonergan  
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Robbin Lonergan  
 
 
 

 
 

42



Return to: 
Carmel City Hall 
Post Office Drawer G 
Carmel, CA 93921 
Attention:  Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

QUALIFYING AN HISTORIC RESOURCE FOR LISTING ON CARMEL REGISTER 
 
The subject property is designated a Historical Resource per Resolution recorded with the Monterey 
County Recorder on February 17, 2016 (Document 2016007921).  This Resolution qualifies the subject 
resource to be placed on the Carmel Register which will allow the property owner to take advantage of a 
preservation incentive program to include the Mills Act Historical Property Contracts. 
 
This Resolution is being recorded pursuant to section 5029(b) of the California Public Resources Code 
that requires the City to record all historic resource determinations.  This action also is taken in 
furtherance of the Local Coastal Program certified by the California Coastal Commission and 
implemented by the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Ordinances No. 2004-01 and 2004-02. 
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a residence)  
should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  criteria  for  listing  in  
the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   
a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) 
(3):  (1). Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  patterns  
of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the United States; (2) Is  
associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national history; (3) Embodies  
the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of construction, or represents the 
work of a master, an important creative individual, or possesses  high artistic values; or (4) Has  yielded,  
or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory or history of the local area, 
California or the nation.  This resource is over 50 years of age and meets criteria #3. 

 
Assessor’s Parcel Number:  010-154-005 
Block:  131      Lot(s):  14       
Current Owner:  Scott Lonergan    
Street Location:  Dolores Street at 12th Ave., NE corner 

 
It is the purpose of this Resolution to alert the owner, the successors and assigns to the existence of an 
historic resource on the property.  This historic resource is protected under laws of the State of California 
and of the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea including the California Coastal Act, the California Public 
Resources Code, the Carmel-by-the-Sea Municipal Code and the Local Coastal Program.   
 
Attachment A – Property Legal Description (1 pages)   Attachment B – DPR Form523 (5 pages) 
 
Certified by: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew Sundt, 
Contract Planner, Carmel-by-the-Sea 
 
T:\Applications\MA Mills Act\MA 16-203 (Lonergan) 

43

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment H



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Erik Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, AICP, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Consideration of a recommendation to the City Council to adopt a 
Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel Register for purposes 
of approving a Mills Act Contract (MA 16-264) for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommend that the City Council adopt a Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel 
Register for purposes of approving a Mills Act contract. 
 
 
Application: MA 16-264 APN:  010-165-015 
Block:  143                                   Lots:  31, 33 and 35 
Location: Northwest Corner of Santa Lucia Avenue and San Carlos Street  
Property Owner:  Brad Slingerlend and Anna Speers  
 
Background:  
 
The ‘Gertrude S. Eells House’, also known as the ‘Las Abuelas’ (‘the grandparents’) property is 
located at the Northwest Corner of Santa Lucia Avenue and San Carlos Street.  The residence 
sits on an irregular shaped parcel approximately 11,000 square-foot in size.  The residence is 
approximately 3,352 square feet and is of the Spanish Eclectic style; it is wood framed and two-
stories.  The home was designed and built by M.J. Murphy in 1928.  Mr. Murphy was the first 
major builder in Carmel who produced over 350 residential and commercial designs between 
1902 and 1940.  He is listed in the Historic Context Statement as one of the notable Designers 
and Builders of Carmel.  The property also has a two hundred plus year old Wolf Pine that is 
believed to be the oldest of its species yet found in the United States (refer to attached DRP 

44



MA 16-264 (Slingerlend and Speers) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
Form 523 for the historic record of this property prepared by Kent Seavey  in 2002).  On May 
25, 2005, the residence was listed on the Carmel Inventory of Historic Resources.  The 
resolution was filed with the County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document:  2007001273).   
 
On June 28, 2016, the property owner submitted an application for a Mills Act contract.  The 
Mills Act was enacted by the State of California in 1972 as a way of encouraging partnerships 
between local governments and property owners of historic resources.  Carmel is a voluntary 
participant in the Mills Act program.   
 
The Mills Act contract is for a period of 10 years and includes renewal provisions.  The property 
owner agrees to specific rehabilitation/restoration efforts that occur over the life of the 
contract.  In turn, the property owner receives a reduced property tax assessment.  The 
assessment is performed by the Monterey County Assessor’s Office.  The City benefits by having 
historic resources rehabilitated and maintained, while the property owner benefits by having a 
reduced tax burden. 
 
The City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32.100) offers Mills Act contracts as a 
potential benefit to property owners of historic resources that are listed on the City’s Historic 
Register.  The HRB is advisory to the City Council on Mills Act contracts.  Staff notes that this is 
one of four Mills Act applications received by the City since the beginning of 2016 – all received 
since May 20; only three contracts are let each year.   
 
Staff analysis 
 
Municipal Code Section 17.32.100.B.6 establishes specific findings that must be made by the 
Historic Resources Board and City Council in order for the property to qualify for a Mills Act 
contract.  The following is a list of the required findings and a staff analysis on how the proposal 
complies with the requirements. 
 
Finding #1: The building is designated as an historic resource by the City. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a 
local or regional level in the Inventory, shall be eligible for listing in the Register only at the 
request of the property owner.”  By Resolution, the residence was designated an historic 
resource on May 25, 2005, and placed on the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources.  It is not on 
the City’s Historic Register.  The Resolution Designating an Historic Resource was recorded with 
the County Record on January 4, 2007 (Document # 2007001273).  However, the residence is 

45



MA 16-264 (Slingerlend and Speers) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
not currently on the City’s Historic Register.  Getting on the Carmel Register is a precondition to 
approving a Mills Act Contract.  Therefore, this Mills Act application includes a Resolution 
qualifying the residence as a Primary Resource and eligible to be on the Carmel Register.  This 
Resolution must be recorded with the County so as to enable the Mills Act Contract to take 
affect.   
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a 
residence)  should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  
criteria  for  listing  in  the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   
significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local 
resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) (3): 
 

1. Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  
patterns  of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the 
United States; 

2. Is  associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national 
history; 

3. Embodies  the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of 
construction, or represents the work of a master, an important creative individual, or 
possesses  high artistic values; or 

4. Has  yielded,  or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory 
or history of the local area, California or the nation 

 
The City’s Municipal Code does not provide a clear distinction between the Historic Inventory 
and Historic Register, but does indicate that the Register is a higher level of historic designation.  
Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a State or 
National level in the Inventory, shall be automatically listed in the Register.”  The DPR 523 Form 
prepared for the Slingerlend/Speers residence indicates that it is significant under criterion 3, in 
the area of architecture, thereby qualifying this residence for the Carmel Register. 
 
Finding #2:  The proposed rehabilitation and maintenance plan is appropriate in scope and 
sufficient in detail to guide rehabilitation and long-term maintenance.  Required maintenance 
and rehabilitation should be more significant than just routine maintenance that would be 
expected for any property. 
 

46



MA 16-264 (Slingerlend and Speers) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.010 requires that the applicant submit a 
rehabilitation/restoration and maintenance plan for the historic resource prepared or reviewed 
by a qualified professional together with a cost estimate of the work to be done.  The applicant 
has submitted the required plan, which is included as Attachment B.  The plan was reviewed by 
Historic Preservation Consultant, Kent Seavey, who supports the maintenance plan and has 
concluded that it meets the intent of the Mills Act Program.   
 
The issuance of a Mills Act contract states that the work done “should be more significant than 
just routine maintenance that would be expected for any property.”  The proposed work is a mix 
of significant and routine maintenance, which is typical of many Mills Act projects and indicated 
in the attached work program (Exhibit B).  The significant work includes structural beam 
replacement, drainage adjustments, foundation repair, window and door restoration, repair 
plaster, restoration/repair second level deck, etc.  
 
Finding #3:  Alterations to the historic resource have been in the past, and will continue to be in 
the future, limited to interior work and to exterior rehabilitation and alterations that: 
 

(A) Comply with the Secretary’s Standards (future additions only), and 
(B) Do not significantly alter, damage or diminish any primary elevation or character-

defining feature, and 
(C) Do not increase floor area on the property by more than 15 percent beyond the 

amount established in the documented original or historic design of the resource, 
and 

(D) Do not result in any second-story addition to a single-story historic resource 
(E) Meet all zoning standards applicable to the location of the property. 

 
Analysis:  The residence has maintained its original size and footprint with no significant 
alterations.  Staff notes that any future alterations would be required to be consistent with the 
Secretary’s Standards and consistent with the above noted requirements.  No changes are 
proposed at this time. 
 
Finding #4:  The Mills Act contract will aid in offsetting the costs of rehabilitating and/or 
maintaining the historic resource and/or will offset potential losses of income that might 
otherwise be achieved on the property. 
 

47



MA 16-264 (Slingerlend and Speers) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 5  
 
Analysis:  The approval of this contract will assist in offsetting future costs of maintenance and 
will offset potential losses of income that might otherwise be achieved on the site had the 
residence not been identified as an historic resource. 
 
Finding #5:  Approval of the Mills Act contract will represent an equitable balance of public and 
private interests and will not result in substantial adverse financial impact on the City. 
 
Analysis:  Approval of the Mills Act Contract will be consistent with Goal 1-5 and Objective 1-16 
of the Land Use Element of the General Plan which encourages providing incentives for 
property owners to preserve and rehabilitate historic resources.  Although the adoption of all 
Mills Act Contracts will decrease the property taxes available to the City, this financial impact is 
minimal because:  1) only a limited number of properties can meet the requirements for a 
contract, 2) only a portion of the property tax from any single property will be lost, 3) only 
three new Mills Act contracts are allowed per year, and 4) the lost revenue to the City is offset 
by the value of preserving an important historic resource.  This contract represents an equitable 
balance of public and private interests.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Attachment A – Legal Property Description 
• Attachment B – Restoration/Maintenance Plan (10 years) 
• Attachment C – Photographs of Property 
• Attachment D – DPR 523 Form  
• Attachment E – Secretary of the Interior Standards 
• Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
• Attachment G – Resolution for Carmel Register  

 

48



49

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



50



51

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



52

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



53



54



55



56



57



58

mwiener
Typewritten Text

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment D



59



60



 
SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS FOR THE TREATMENT 

OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES (Rehabilitation) 
 
1. “A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 
requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and 
environment." 
 
2. "The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The 
removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a 
property shall be avoided." 
 
3. "Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 
use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be 
undertaken."  
 
4. "Most properties change over time; changes that have acquired historic 
significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved."  
 
5. "Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved." 
 
6. "Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where 
the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by 
documentary, physical, and pictorial evidence." 
 
7. "Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 
historic materials shall not be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, 
shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible." 
 
8. "Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected 
and preserved.  If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken. 
 
9. "New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not 
destroy historic materials that characterize the property.  The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 
architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment." 
 
10. "New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired." 

61

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
CITY CLERK 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
NAME:  CITY CLERK 
  CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
ADDRESS: CITY HALL 
  PO DRAWER G 
  CARMEL, CA 93921 
 

CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
MILLS ACT AGREEMENT 

HISTORIC PROPERTY PRESERVATION CONTRACT 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of December, 2016 by and between the 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and Brad 
Slingerlend and Anna Speers (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”). 
 
RECITALS 

 
(i) California Government Code Section 50280, et seq. (known as the Mills Act) authorizes 

cities to enter into contracts with the owners of qualified historic properties to provide for 
their appropriate use, maintenance and restoration such that these historic properties 
retain their historic characteristics; 

 
(ii) The Owner possesses fee title in and to that certain real property, together with associated 

structures and improvements thereon, located at the northeast corner of Dolores Street 
and 12th Avenue (APN: 010-165-015), Carmel, California, (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Historic Property”).  A legal description of the Historic Property is attached hereto, 
marked as Exhibit “A” and is incorporated herein by this reference; 

 
(iii) The property is identified as an historic resource on the City of Carmel’s Register of 

Historic Resources; 
 

(iv) City and Owner, for their mutual benefit, now desire to enter into this Agreement both to 
protect and preserve the characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property, 
and to qualify the Historic Property for an assessment of valuation pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 1.9 (commencing with section 439) of Chapter 3 of Part 2 of 
Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City and Owner, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
contained herein, do hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM.  This Agreement shall be effective and commence on 

1 January 2017, unless otherwise indicated by Monterey County, and shall remain in 
effect for a term of ten (10) years thereafter. 

 
2. AUTOMATIC RENEWAL.  Each year, upon the anniversary of the effective date of this 

Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “annual renewal date”), one (1) year shall be added 
automatically to the term of this Agreement, unless timely notice of nonrenewal is given 

62



as provided in paragraph 3 of this Agreement.  The total length of the contract shall not 
exceed twenty (20) years.   

 
3. NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If City or Owner desires in any year not to renew this 

Agreement, that party shall serve written notice of nonrenewal in advance of the annual 
renewal date of this Agreement as follows:  Owner must serve written notice of 
nonrenewal at least ninety (90) days prior to the annual renewal date; City must serve 
written notice of the nonrenewal at least sixty (60) days prior to the annual renewal date.  
Upon receipt by Owner of a notice of nonrenewal from the City, Owner may make a 
written protest.  At any time prior to the annual renewal date, City may withdraw its 
notice of nonrenewal. 

 
4. EFFECT OF NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If either City or Owner serves timely 

notice of nonrenewal in any year, and this contract is not renewed, this Agreement shall 
remain in effect only for the remaining nine (9) years from the last annual renewal date. 

 
5. VALUATION OF PROPERTY.  During the term of this Agreement, Owner is entitled to 

seek assessment of valuation of the Historic Property pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 3 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
6. PRESERVATION OF PROPERTY. Owner shall preserve and maintain the 

characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property.  Attached hereto marked 
as Exhibit “B”, and incorporated herein by this reference, is a list of those minimum 
standards and conditions for maintenance, use and preservation of the Historic Property, 
which shall apply to such property throughout the term of this Agreement.  The Owner 
agrees to complete rehabilitation and/or maintenance activities of the structure and 
comply with such conditions as specified in Exhibit “B” including the conditions outlined 
by the City’s Historic Preservation Consultant.   Requests for substantial revisions to the 
maintenance and rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed by the Historic Resources Board 
prior to implementation.  In addition, Owner shall comply with the terms of the City’s 
Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32).  Owners shall not be permitted to further 
impede the view corridor with any new structure, such as walls, fences, or shrubbery, so 
as to prevent the viewing of the Historic Property from the public right-of-way. 

 
7. RESTORATION OF PROPERTY.  Owner shall, where necessary, restore and 

rehabilitate the Historic Property to conform to the rules and regulations of the Office of 
Historic Preservation of the State Department of Parks and Recreation, U. S. Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, State Historical Building Code, and the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, all as amended.  This scope of work could exceed that defined in the 
Owner’s work program included as Attachment B. 

 
8. INSPECTIONS.  Owner shall allow periodic examinations, with reasonable notice 

thereof, of the interior and exterior of the Historic Property by representatives of the 
County Assessor, the State Department of Parks and Recreation, the State Board of 
Equalization, the City and other agencies as may be necessary to determine Owner’s 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. PROVISION OF INFORMATION.  Owner shall furnish the City with any and all 

information requested by City, which City deems necessary or advisable to determine 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
10. ANNUAL REPORT.  Owner shall submit an annual report at least 90 days prior to each 

annual renewal date to the Department of Planning and Building specifying all work that 
has been done to maintain and preserve the historic resource over the preceding year in 
compliance with the approved maintenance plan. 

63



 
11. CANCELLATION.  The City has the right to cancel the contract if the historic resource 

is damaged or destroyed by unauthorized additions, alterations or remodeling.  The City 
also has the right to cancel this contract if the owners(s) have repeatedly failed to comply 
with the provisions of paragraph’s # 6, 7, 8 or 10 of this Agreement after the City has 
provided reasonable notice of any failure to comply with the agreement.  Cancellation of 
a contract by the City consistent with the provisions of this paragraph requires a public 
hearing and, if cancelled, results in the immediate termination of the contract and a 
penalty equal to 12.5 percent of the assessed market value of the property.  City’s right to 
cancel this Agreement pursuant to this paragraph shall in no way limit or restrict its rights 
or legal remedies arising from City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance and Municipal 
Code. 

 
12. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In lieu of and/or in addition to any provisions to 

cancel this Agreement as referenced herein, City may specifically enforce, or enjoin the 
breach of, the terms of this Agreement. 

 
13. WAIVER.  City does not waive any claim or default by Owner if City does not enforce or 

cancel this Agreement.  All remedies at law or in equity, which are not otherwise 
provided for this Agreement or in City’s regulations governing historic properties are 
available to City to pursue in the event there is a breach of this Agreement.  No waiver by 
City of any breach or default under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any 
other subsequent breach thereof or default hereunder. 

 
14. BINDING EFFECT OF AGREEMENT.  Owner hereby subjects the Historic Property to 

the covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth in this Agreement.  City and Owner 
hereby declare their specific intent that the covenants, reservations, and restrictions as set 
forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with the land and shall pass to and be 
binding upon Owner’s successors and assigns in title or interest to the Historic Property.  
A successor in interest shall have the same rights and obligations under this Agreement as 
the original owner who executed the Agreement. 

 
Each and every contract, deed or other instrument hereinafter executed, governing or 
conveying the Historic Property, or any portion thereof, shall conclusively be held to 
have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to the covenants, reservations and 
restrictions expressed in this Agreement regardless of whether such covenants, 
reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instrument. 
 
City and Owner hereby declare their understanding and intent that the burden of the 
covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein touch and concern the land in that 
it restricts development of the Historic Property.  City and Owner hereby further declare 
their understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants, reservations and 
restrictions touch and concern the land by enhancing and maintaining the cultural and 
historic characteristics and significance of the Historic Property for the benefit of the 
public and Owner. 

 
15. NOTICE.  Any notice required to be given by the terms of this Agreement shall be 

provided at the address of the respective parties as specified below, by personal delivery 
or United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
City:   Carmel-by-the-Sea 
   Community Development Department 
   PO Drawer G 
   Carmel, CA 93921 
 

64



 
Owner:    Brad Slingerlend and Anna Speers     
               PO Box 3787 
               Carmel, CA  93921 
 

16. Recordation.  No later than twenty (20) days after the parties execute and enter into this 
Agreement, the City shall cause this Agreement to be recorded in the Office of the 
County Recorder of the County of Monterey. 

 
17. The Owner or agent of Owner shall provide written notice of this Agreement to the State 

Office of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of the date of this Agreement. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement shall be constructed and governed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Should either party to this agreement 
bring legal action against the other, the case shall be handled in Monterey County, 
California and the party prevailing in such action shall be entitled to a reasonable attorney 
fee which shall be fixed by the judge hearing the case and such fee shall be included in 
the judgment together with all costs.   

 
19. Amendments.  This agreement may be amended in whole or in part, only by a written-

recorded instrument executed by the parties hereto. 
 
20. DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY; EMINENT DOMAIN; CANCELLATION.  If the 

Historic Property is destroyed by earthquake, fire, flood, or other natural disaster such 
that in the opinion of the City Building Official more than sixty percent (60%) of the 
original fabric of the structure must be preplaced, this Agreement shall be cancelled 
because the historic value of the structure will have been destroyed.  If the Historic 
Property is acquired in whole or in part by eminent domain or other acquisition by any 
entity authorized to exercise the power of eminent domain, and the acquisition is 
determined by the City Council to frustrate the purpose of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall be cancelled.  No cancellation fee pursuant to Government Code Section 
50286 shall be imposed if the Agreement is cancelled pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION.  Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City and its 

elected officials, officers, agents and employees from any actual or alleged claims, 
demands, causes of action, liability, loss, damage, or injury to property or persons, 
including wrongful death, whether imposed by a court of law or by administrative action 
of any federal, state or local government agency, arising out of or incident to the direct or 
indirect use, operation, or maintenance of the Historic Property by Owner or any 
contractor, subcontractor, employee, agent, lessee, licensee, invitee, or any other person; 
(ii) Owner’s activities in connection with the Historic Property; and (iii) any restriction 
on the use of development of the Historic Property, from application or enforcement of 
the City’s Municipal Code, or from the enforcement of this Agreement.  This 
indemnification includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, 
judgments, awards, decrees, attorneys’ fees, and related costs or expenses, and the 
reimbursement of the City, its elected officials, employees, and/or agents for all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by each of them.  Owner’s obligation to indemnify shall 
survive the termination, cancellation, or expiration of this Agreement and shall not be 
restricted to insurance proceeds, if any, received by City, its elected officials, employees, 
or agents. 

 
22. SEVERABILITY.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to 

be unenforceable or invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by subsequent 
preemptive legislation, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions, or 
portions thereof, shall not be affected thereby. 

65



 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the City and Owners have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written above. 
 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA: 
 
 
By: _______________________   Date: __________________ 
 
Name: Chip Rerig  
 
Title: City Administrator  
 
 
PROPERTY OWNERs: 
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Brad Slingerlend  
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Anna Speers  
 
 
 

 
 

66



Return to: 
Carmel City Hall 
Post Office Drawer G 
Carmel, CA 93921 
Attention:  Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

QUALIFYING AN HISTORIC RESOURCE FOR LISTING ON CARMEL REGISTER 
 
The subject property is designated a Historical Resource per Resolution recorded with the Monterey 
County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document 2007001273).  This Resolution qualifies the subject 
resource to be placed on the Carmel Register which will allow the property owner to take advantage of a 
preservation incentive program to include the Mills Act Historical Property Contracts. 
 
This Resolution is being recorded pursuant to section 5029(b) of the California Public Resources Code 
that requires the City to record all historic resource determinations.  This action also is taken in 
furtherance of the Local Coastal Program certified by the California Coastal Commission and 
implemented by the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Ordinances No. 2004-01 and 2004-02. 
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a residence)  
should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  criteria  for  listing  in  
the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   
a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) 
(3):  (1). Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  patterns  
of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the United States; (2) Is  
associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national history; (3) Embodies  
the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of construction, or represents the 
work of a master, an important creative individual, or possesses  high artistic values; or (4) Has  yielded,  
or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory or history of the local area, 
California or the nation.  This resource is over 50 years of age and meets criteria #3. 

 
Assessor’s Parcel Number:  010-165-015 
Block:  143      Lot(s):  31, 33 and 35       
Current Owner:  Brad Slingerlend and Anna Speers    
Street Location:  Northwest Corner of Santa Lucia Avenue and San Carlos Sreet 

 
It is the purpose of this Resolution to alert the owner, the successors and assigns to the existence of an 
historic resource on the property.  This historic resource is protected under laws of the State of California 
and of the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea including the California Coastal Act, the California Public 
Resources Code, the Carmel-by-the-Sea Municipal Code and the Local Coastal Program.   
 
Attachment A – Property Legal Description (2 pages)   Attachment B – DPR Form523 (3 pages) 
 
Certified by: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew Sundt, 
Contract Planner, Carmel-by-the-Sea 
 
T:\Applications\MA Mills Act\MA 16-264 (Slingerlend-Speers) 

67

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment G



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Erik Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, AICP, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Consideration of a recommendation to the City Council to adopt a 
Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel Register for purposes 
of approving a Mills Act Contract (MA 16-269) for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommend that the City Council adopt a Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel 
Register for purposes of approving a Mills Act contract. 
 
Application: MA 16-269 APN:  010-164-001 
Block:  137                                   Lot:  1 
Location: Southwest Corner of San Carlos Street and 12th Avenue 
Property Owner:  The Sharon B. Holtkamp and Kenneth W. Holtkamp AB Living Trust  
 
Background:  
 
The subject property is located at the southwest corner of San Carlos Street and Twelfth 
Avenue and is developed with a 1,371-square foot, one-and-one-half-story, wood-framed 
Tudor Revival style residence, irregular in plan, resting on a concrete foundation with full 
basement. Per the DPR Form 523 prepared in 2002, the residence is known as the  
Ross E. Bonham House.  It was designed by George Mark Whitcomb and built in 1926.    Mr. 
Whitcomb was a resident of Carmel commencing in 1919 and responsible for building 
numerous small cottage around Mtn. View Street and 8th Avenue that exhibit his familiarity 
with the “Storybook” sub-style of the Tudor Revival.   
 

68



MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
On June 27, 2016, the property owner submitted an application for a Mills Act contract.  The 
Mills Act was enacted by the State of California in 1972 as a way of encouraging partnerships 
between local governments and property owners of historic resources.  Carmel is a voluntary 
participant in the Mills Act program.   
 
The Mills Act contract is for a period of 10 years and includes renewal provisions.  The property 
owner agrees to specific rehabilitation/restoration efforts that occur over the life of the 
contract.  In turn, the property owner receives a reduced property tax assessment.  The 
assessment is performed by the Monterey County Assessor’s Office.  The City benefits by having 
historic resources rehabilitated and maintained, while the property owner benefits by having a 
reduced tax burden. 
 
The City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32.100) offers Mills Act contracts as a 
potential benefit to property owners of historic resources that are listed on the City’s Historic 
Register.  The HRB is advisory to the City Council on Mills Act contracts.  Staff notes that this is 
one of four Mills Act applications received by the City since the beginning of 2016 – all received 
since May 20; it is City policy to only allow three contracts each year.   
 
Staff analysis:  
 
Municipal Code Section 17.32.100.B.6 establishes specific findings that must be made by the 
Historic Resources Board and City Council in order for the property to qualify for a Mills Act 
contract.  The following is a list of the required findings and a staff analysis on how the proposal 
complies with the requirements. 
 
Finding #1: The building is designated as an historic resource by the City. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a 
local or regional level in the Inventory, shall be eligible for listing in the Register only at the 
request of the property owner.”  By Resolution, the residence was designated an historic 
resource on May 25, 2005, and placed on the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources.  It is not on 
the City’s Historic Register.  The Resolution Designating a Historic Resource was recorded with 
the County Record on January 4, 2007 (Document # 2007001272).  However, the residence is 
not currently on the City’s Historic Register.  Getting on the Carmel Register is a precondition to 
approving a Mills Act Contract.  Therefore, this Mills Act application includes a Resolution 
qualifying the residence as a Primary Resource and eligible to be on the Carmel Register.  This 

69



MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
Resolution must be recorded with the County so as to enable the Mills Act Contract to take 
affect. 
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a 
residence)  should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  
criteria  for  listing  in  the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   
significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local 
resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) (3): 
 

1. Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  
patterns  of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the 
United States; 

2. Is  associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national 
history; 

3. Embodies  the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of 
construction, or represents the work of a master, an important creative individual, or 
possesses  high artistic values; or 

4. Has  yielded,  or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory 
or history of the local area, California or the nation 

 
The City’s Municipal Code does not provide a clear distinction between the Historic Inventory 
and Historic Register, but does indicate that the Register is a higher level of historic designation.  
Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a State or 
National level in the Inventory, shall be automatically listed in the Register.”  The DPR 523 Form 
prepared for the Holtkamp residence indicates that it is significant under criterions 2 and 3, in 
the area of an important person to local history and architecture, respectively, thereby 
qualifying this residence for the Carmel Register. 
 
Finding #2:  The proposed rehabilitation and maintenance plan is appropriate in scope and 
sufficient in detail to guide rehabilitation and long-term maintenance.  Required maintenance 
and rehabilitation should be more significant than just routine maintenance that would be 
expected for any property. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.010 requires that the applicant submit a 
rehabilitation/restoration and maintenance plan for the historic resource prepared or reviewed 
by a qualified professional together with a cost estimate of the work to be done.  The applicant 

70



MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
has submitted the required plan, which is included as Attachment B.  The plan was reviewed by 
Historic Preservation Consultant, Kent Seavey, who generally supports the maintenance plan 
and has concluded that it meets the intent of the Mills Act Program requirements, but 
recommends the following amendments to the maintenance program/Schedule of Work: 
 

1. “Repair” (not replace) windows; 
2. “Repair” (not replace) exterior doors unless door is not of the correct period; 
3. “Repair” (not replace) front porch with “in-kind” materials 

 
The issuance of a Mills Act contract states that the work done “should be more significant than 
just routine maintenance that would be expected for any property.”  The proposed work is a mix 
of significant and routine maintenance, which is typical of many Mills Act projects as indicated 
in the attached work program (Exhibit B).  The significant work includes altering existing 
drainage to direct water away from the house, upgrading the electrical and plumbing systems, 
repairing the chimney, replacing the existing composition roof with wood shake, seismic 
retrofitting the foundation, and repairing interior/exterior plaster. 
 
Finding #3:  Alterations to the historic resource have been in the past, and will continue to be in 
the future, limited to interior work and to exterior rehabilitation and alterations that: 
 

(A) Comply with the Secretary’s Standards (future additions only), and 
(B) Do not significantly alter, damage or diminish any primary elevation or character-

defining feature, and 
(C) Do not increase floor area on the property by more than 15 percent beyond the 

amount established in the documented original or historic design of the resource, 
and 

(D) Do not result in any second-story addition to a single-story historic resource 
(E) Meet all zoning standards applicable to the location of the property. 

 
Analysis:  The residence has maintained its original size and footprint with no significant 
alterations.  Staff notes that any future alterations would be required to be consistent with the 
Secretary’s Standards and consistent with the above noted requirements.   No changes are 
proposed at this time. 
 

71



MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 5  
 
Finding #4:  The Mills Act contract will aid in offsetting the costs of rehabilitating and/or 
maintaining the historic resource and/or will offset potential losses of income that might 
otherwise be achieved on the property. 
 
Analysis:  The approval of this contract will assist in offsetting future costs of maintenance and 
will offset potential losses of income that might otherwise be achieved on the site had the 
residence not been identified as an historic resource. 
 
Finding #5:  Approval of the Mills Act contract will represent an equitable balance of public and 
private interests and will not result in substantial adverse financial impact on the City. 
 
Analysis:  Approval of the Mills Act Contract will be consistent with Goal 1-5 and Objective 1-16 
of the Land Use Element of the General Plan which encourages providing incentives for 
property owners to preserve and rehabilitate historic resources.  Although the adoption of all 
Mills Act Contracts will decrease the property taxes available to the City, this financial impact is 
minimal because:  1) only a limited number of properties can meet the requirements for a 
contract, 2) only a portion of the property tax from any single property will be lost, 3) only 
three new Mills Act contracts are allowed per year, and 4) the lost revenue to the City is offset 
by the value of preserving an important historic resource.  This contract represents an equitable 
balance of public and private interests.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Attachment A – Legal Property Description 
• Attachment B – Restoration/Maintenance Plan (10 years) 
• Attachment C – Photographs of Property 
• Attachment D – DPR 523 Form  
• Attachment E – Secretary of the Interior Standards 
• Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
• Attachment G – Resolution for Carmel Register 

72



73

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



74

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



75



76



77



78

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment D



88



89



 
SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS FOR THE TREATMENT 

OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES (Rehabilitation) 
 
1. “A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 
requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and 
environment." 
 
2. "The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The 
removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a 
property shall be avoided." 
 
3. "Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 
use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be 
undertaken."  
 
4. "Most properties change over time; changes that have acquired historic 
significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved."  
 
5. "Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved." 
 
6. "Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where 
the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by 
documentary, physical, and pictorial evidence." 
 
7. "Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 
historic materials shall not be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, 
shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible." 
 
8. "Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected 
and preserved.  If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken. 
 
9. "New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not 
destroy historic materials that characterize the property.  The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 
architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment." 
 
10. "New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired." 

90

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
CITY CLERK 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
NAME:  CITY CLERK 
  CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
ADDRESS: CITY HALL 
  PO DRAWER G 
  CARMEL, CA 93921 
 

CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
MILLS ACT AGREEMENT 

HISTORIC PROPERTY PRESERVATION CONTRACT 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of December, 2016 by and between the 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and 
Sharon B. Holtkamp and Kenneth W. Holtkamp AB Living Trust (hereinafter referred to as “Owners”). 
 
RECITALS 

 
(i) California Government Code Section 50280, et seq. (known as the Mills Act) authorizes 

cities to enter into contracts with the owners of qualified historic properties to provide for 
their appropriate use, maintenance and restoration such that these historic properties 
retain their historic characteristics; 

 
(ii) The Owner possesses fee title in and to that certain real property, together with associated 

structures and improvements thereon, located at the southwest corner of San Carlos Street 
and 12th Avenue (APN: 010-164-001), Carmel, California, (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Historic Property”).  A legal description of the Historic Property is attached hereto, 
marked as Exhibit “A” and is incorporated herein by this reference; 

 
(iii) The property is identified as an historic resource on the City of Carmel’s Register of 

Historic Resources; 
 

(iv) City and Owner, for their mutual benefit, now desire to enter into this Agreement both to 
protect and preserve the characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property, 
and to qualify the Historic Property for an assessment of valuation pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 1.9 (commencing with section 439) of Chapter 3 of Part 2 of 
Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City and Owner, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
contained herein, do hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM.  This Agreement shall be effective and commence on 

1 January 2017, unless otherwise indicated by Monterey County, and shall remain in 
effect for a term of ten (10) years thereafter. 

 
2. AUTOMATIC RENEWAL.  Each year, upon the anniversary of the effective date of this 

Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “annual renewal date”), one (1) year shall be added 
automatically to the term of this Agreement, unless timely notice of nonrenewal is given 

91



as provided in paragraph 3 of this Agreement.  The total length of the contract shall not 
exceed twenty (20) years.   

 
3. NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If City or Owner desires in any year not to renew this 

Agreement, that party shall serve written notice of nonrenewal in advance of the annual 
renewal date of this Agreement as follows:  Owner must serve written notice of 
nonrenewal at least ninety (90) days prior to the annual renewal date; City must serve 
written notice of the nonrenewal at least sixty (60) days prior to the annual renewal date.  
Upon receipt by Owner of a notice of nonrenewal from the City, Owner may make a 
written protest.  At any time prior to the annual renewal date, City may withdraw its 
notice of nonrenewal. 

 
4. EFFECT OF NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If either City or Owner serves timely 

notice of nonrenewal in any year, and this contract is not renewed, this Agreement shall 
remain in effect only for the remaining nine (9) years from the last annual renewal date. 

 
5. VALUATION OF PROPERTY.  During the term of this Agreement, Owner is entitled to 

seek assessment of valuation of the Historic Property pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 3 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
6. PRESERVATION OF PROPERTY. Owner shall preserve and maintain the 

characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property.  Attached hereto marked 
as Exhibit “B”, and incorporated herein by this reference, is a list of those minimum 
standards and conditions for maintenance, use and preservation of the Historic Property, 
which shall apply to such property throughout the term of this Agreement.  The Owner 
agrees to complete rehabilitation and/or maintenance activities of the structure and 
comply with such conditions as specified in Exhibit “B” including the conditions outlined 
by the City’s Historic Preservation Consultant.   Requests for substantial revisions to the 
maintenance and rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed by the Historic Resources Board 
prior to implementation.  In addition, Owner shall comply with the terms of the City’s 
Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32).  Owners shall not be permitted to further 
impede the view corridor with any new structure, such as walls, fences, or shrubbery, so 
as to prevent the viewing of the Historic Property from the public right-of-way. 

 
7. RESTORATION OF PROPERTY.  Owner shall, where necessary, restore and 

rehabilitate the Historic Property to conform to the rules and regulations of the Office of 
Historic Preservation of the State Department of Parks and Recreation, U. S. Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, State Historical Building Code, and the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, all as amended.  This scope of work could exceed that defined in the 
Owner’s work program included as Attachment B. 

 
8. INSPECTIONS.  Owner shall allow periodic examinations, with reasonable notice 

thereof, of the interior and exterior of the Historic Property by representatives of the 
County Assessor, the State Department of Parks and Recreation, the State Board of 
Equalization, the City and other agencies as may be necessary to determine Owner’s 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. PROVISION OF INFORMATION.  Owner shall furnish the City with any and all 

information requested by City, which City deems necessary or advisable to determine 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
10. ANNUAL REPORT.  Owner shall submit an annual report at least 90 days prior to each 

annual renewal date to the Department of Planning and Building specifying all work that 
has been done to maintain and preserve the historic resource over the preceding year in 
compliance with the approved maintenance plan. 

92



 
11. CANCELLATION.  The City has the right to cancel the contract if the historic resource 

is damaged or destroyed by unauthorized additions, alterations or remodeling.  The City 
also has the right to cancel this contract if the owners(s) have repeatedly failed to comply 
with the provisions of paragraph’s # 6, 7, 8 or 10 of this Agreement after the City has 
provided reasonable notice of any failure to comply with the agreement.  Cancellation of 
a contract by the City consistent with the provisions of this paragraph requires a public 
hearing and, if cancelled, results in the immediate termination of the contract and a 
penalty equal to 12.5 percent of the assessed market value of the property.  City’s right to 
cancel this Agreement pursuant to this paragraph shall in no way limit or restrict its rights 
or legal remedies arising from City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance and Municipal 
Code. 

 
12. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In lieu of and/or in addition to any provisions to 

cancel this Agreement as referenced herein, City may specifically enforce, or enjoin the 
breach of, the terms of this Agreement. 

 
13. WAIVER.  City does not waive any claim or default by Owner if City does not enforce or 

cancel this Agreement.  All remedies at law or in equity, which are not otherwise 
provided for this Agreement or in City’s regulations governing historic properties are 
available to City to pursue in the event there is a breach of this Agreement.  No waiver by 
City of any breach or default under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any 
other subsequent breach thereof or default hereunder. 

 
14. BINDING EFFECT OF AGREEMENT.  Owner hereby subjects the Historic Property to 

the covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth in this Agreement.  City and Owner 
hereby declare their specific intent that the covenants, reservations, and restrictions as set 
forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with the land and shall pass to and be 
binding upon Owner’s successors and assigns in title or interest to the Historic Property.  
A successor in interest shall have the same rights and obligations under this Agreement as 
the original owner who executed the Agreement. 

 
Each and every contract, deed or other instrument hereinafter executed, governing or 
conveying the Historic Property, or any portion thereof, shall conclusively be held to 
have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to the covenants, reservations and 
restrictions expressed in this Agreement regardless of whether such covenants, 
reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instrument. 
 
City and Owner hereby declare their understanding and intent that the burden of the 
covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein touch and concern the land in that 
it restricts development of the Historic Property.  City and Owner hereby further declare 
their understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants, reservations and 
restrictions touch and concern the land by enhancing and maintaining the cultural and 
historic characteristics and significance of the Historic Property for the benefit of the 
public and Owner. 

 
15. NOTICE.  Any notice required to be given by the terms of this Agreement shall be 

provided at the address of the respective parties as specified below, by personal delivery 
or United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
City:   Carmel-by-the-Sea 
   Community Development Department 
   PO Drawer G 
   Carmel, CA 93921 
 

93



 
Owner:    Ken and Sharon Holtkamp     
               10824 Sundial Rim Road  
               Highlands Ranch, Colorado  80126 
 

16. Recordation.  No later than twenty (20) days after the parties execute and enter into this 
Agreement, the City shall cause this Agreement to be recorded in the Office of the 
County Recorder of the County of Monterey. 

 
17. The Owner or agent of Owner shall provide written notice of this Agreement to the State 

Office of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of the date of this Agreement. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement shall be constructed and governed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Should either party to this agreement 
bring legal action against the other, the case shall be handled in Monterey County, 
California and the party prevailing in such action shall be entitled to a reasonable attorney 
fee which shall be fixed by the judge hearing the case and such fee shall be included in 
the judgment together with all costs.   

 
19. Amendments.  This agreement may be amended in whole or in part, only by a written-

recorded instrument executed by the parties hereto. 
 
20. DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY; EMINENT DOMAIN; CANCELLATION.  If the 

Historic Property is destroyed by earthquake, fire, flood, or other natural disaster such 
that in the opinion of the City Building Official more than sixty percent (60%) of the 
original fabric of the structure must be preplaced, this Agreement shall be cancelled 
because the historic value of the structure will have been destroyed.  If the Historic 
Property is acquired in whole or in part by eminent domain or other acquisition by any 
entity authorized to exercise the power of eminent domain, and the acquisition is 
determined by the City Council to frustrate the purpose of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall be cancelled.  No cancellation fee pursuant to Government Code Section 
50286 shall be imposed if the Agreement is cancelled pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION.  Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City and its 

elected officials, officers, agents and employees from any actual or alleged claims, 
demands, causes of action, liability, loss, damage, or injury to property or persons, 
including wrongful death, whether imposed by a court of law or by administrative action 
of any federal, state or local government agency, arising out of or incident to the direct or 
indirect use, operation, or maintenance of the Historic Property by Owner or any 
contractor, subcontractor, employee, agent, lessee, licensee, invitee, or any other person; 
(ii) Owner’s activities in connection with the Historic Property; and (iii) any restriction 
on the use of development of the Historic Property, from application or enforcement of 
the City’s Municipal Code, or from the enforcement of this Agreement.  This 
indemnification includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, 
judgments, awards, decrees, attorneys’ fees, and related costs or expenses, and the 
reimbursement of the City, its elected officials, employees, and/or agents for all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by each of them.  Owner’s obligation to indemnify shall 
survive the termination, cancellation, or expiration of this Agreement and shall not be 
restricted to insurance proceeds, if any, received by City, its elected officials, employees, 
or agents. 

 
22. SEVERABILITY.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to 

be unenforceable or invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by subsequent 
preemptive legislation, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions, or 
portions thereof, shall not be affected thereby. 

94



 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the City and Owners have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written above. 
 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA: 
 
 
By: _______________________   Date: __________________ 
 
Name: Chip Rerig  
 
Title: City Administrator  
 
 
PROPERTY OWNERs: 
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Sharon B. Holtkamp, Trustee 
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Kenneth W. Holtkamp, Trustee 
 
 
 

 
 

95



Return to: 
Carmel City Hall 
Post Office Drawer G 
Carmel, CA 93921 
Attention:  Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

QUALIFYING AN HISTORIC RESOURCE FOR LISTING ON CARMEL REGISTER 
 
The subject property is designated a Historical Resource per Resolution recorded with the Monterey 
County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document 2007001272).  This Resolution qualifies the subject 
resource to be placed on the Carmel Register which will allow the property owner to take advantage of a 
preservation incentive program to include the Mills Act Historical Property Contracts. 
 
This Resolution is being recorded pursuant to section 5029(b) of the California Public Resources Code 
that requires the City to record all historic resource determinations.  This action also is taken in 
furtherance of the Local Coastal Program certified by the California Coastal Commission and 
implemented by the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Ordinances No. 2004-01 and 2004-02. 
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a residence)  
should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  criteria  for  listing  in  
the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   
a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) 
(3):  (1). Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  patterns  
of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the United States; (2) Is  
associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national history; (3) Embodies  
the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of construction, or represents the 
work of a master, an important creative individual, or possesses  high artistic values; or (4) Has  yielded,  
or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory or history of the local area, 
California or the nation.  This resource is over 50 years of age and meets criteria #2 and #3. 

 
Assessor’s Parcel Number:  010-164-001 
Block:  137      Lot(s):  1       
Current Owner:  The Sharon B. Holtkamp and Kenneth W. Holtkamp AB Living Trust    
Street Location:  Southwest Corner of San Carlos Street and 12th Avenue 

 
It is the purpose of this Resolution to alert the owner, the successors and assigns to the existence of an 
historic resource on the property.  This historic resource is protected under laws of the State of California 
and of the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea including the California Coastal Act, the California Public 
Resources Code, the Carmel-by-the-Sea Municipal Code and the Local Coastal Program.   
 
Attachment A – Property Legal Description (1 pages)   Attachment B – DPR Form523 (3 pages) 
 
Certified by: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew Sundt, 
Contract Planner, Carmel-by-the-Sea 
 
T:\Applications\MA Mills Act\MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) 

96

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment G



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Erik Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, AICP, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Ashley Hobson, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Consideration of a recommendation to the City Council to adopt a 
Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel Register for purposes 
of approving a Mills Act Contract (MA 16-246) for an existing historic 
residence located in the Single Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommend that the City Council adopt a Resolution to add a Historic Resource to the Carmel 
Register for purposes of approving a Mills Act contract. 
 
Application: MA 16-246   APN:  010-115-006 
Block:  4 1/2                                     Lots:  West ½ of 17 and 19 
Location: Vista Avenue, 2 NW of Mission Avenue  Property Owner: Ken Rheaume 
 
Background:  
 
The ‘Francis Whitaker Cottage” property is located on Vista Avenue, 2 NW of Mission Avenue.  
The residence is a one-story, wood-framed Craftsman cottage with the exterior walls clad with 
smooth cement stucco and a low-pitched intersecting gable roof.  The cottage sits well back on 
the 4,000 square foot lot with a rustic grapestake fence and an informal landscape setting of 
mature oaks, flowers and low shrubbery.  The residence is of unknown size but the property file 
indicates it may be 1,048 square feet.  It was constructed in 1928.   
 
The Francis Whittaker Cottage is significant under California Register criterion 2 for the 
contributions of its original owner (Francis Whitaker) to the craft of ironwork in the United 
States and also under criterion 3 in the area of architecture as a basically unaltered example of 
the residential work of Carmel master builder Michael J. Murphy in the 1920’s.  Francis 

97



MA 16-264 (Rheaume) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
Whitaker, the first owner, was born in 1906 and is considered to be one of the finest 
ironworkers and artistic blacksmiths in the United States.  In 1927 he settled in Carmel-by-the-
Sea and began working with M.J. Murphy until the Great Depression when he went out on his 
own and establish the Forge in the Forest, a Carmel institution, at 6th and Junipero.  Mr. M.J. 
Murphy was the first major builder in Carmel who produced over 350 residential and 
commercial designs between 1902 and 1940.  He is listed in the Historic Context Statement as 
one of the notable Designers and Builders of Carmel.  On May 25, 2005, the residence was 
listed on the Carmel Inventory of Historic Resources.  The Resolution Designating a Historic 
Resource was recorded with the County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document 
#2007001166). 
 
On June 16, 2016, the property owner submitted an application for a Mills Act contract.  The 
Mills Act was enacted by the State of California in 1972 as a way of encouraging partnerships 
between local governments and property owners of historic resources.  Carmel is a voluntary 
participant in the Mills Act program.   
 
The Mills Act contract is for a period of 10 years and includes renewal provisions.  The property 
owner agrees to specific rehabilitation/restoration efforts that occur over the life of the 
contract.  In turn, the property owner receives a reduced property tax assessment.  The 
assessment is performed by the Monterey County Assessor’s Office.  The City benefits by having 
historic resources rehabilitated and maintained, while the property owner benefits by having a 
reduced tax burden. 
 
The City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32.100) offers Mills Act contracts as a 
potential benefit to property owners of historic resources that are listed on the City’s Historic 
Register.  The HRB is advisory to the City Council on Mills Act contracts.  Staff notes that this is 
one of four Mills Act applications received by the City since the beginning of 2016 – all received 
since May 20; it is City policy to only allow three contracts each year.     
 
Staff analysis 
 
Municipal Code Section 17.32.100.B.6 establishes specific findings that must be made by the 
Historic Resources Board and City Council in order for the property to qualify for a Mills Act 
contract.  The following is a list of the required findings and a staff analysis on how the proposal 
complies with the requirements. 
 
Finding #1: The building is designated as an historic resource by the City. 

98



MA 16-264 (Rheaume) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a 
local or regional level in the Inventory, shall be eligible for listing in the Register only at the 
request of the property owner.”  By Resolution, the residence was designated an historic 
resource on May 25, 2005, and placed on the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources.  It is not on 
the City’s Historic Register.  The Resolution Designating a Historic Resource was recorded with 
the County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document # 2007001166).   
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a 
residence)  should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  
criteria  for  listing  in  the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   
significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local 
resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) (3): 
 

1. Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  
patterns  of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the 
United States; 

2. Is  associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national 
history; 

3. Embodies  the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of 
construction, or represents the work of a master, an important creative individual, or 
possesses  high artistic values; or 

4. Has  yielded,  or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory 
or history of the local area, California or the nation 

 
The City’s Municipal Code does not provide a clear distinction between the Historic Inventory 
and Historic Register, but does indicate that the Register is a higher level of historic designation.  
Municipal Code Section 17.32.090 states that “resources, identified as significant at a State or 
National level in the Inventory, shall be automatically listed in the Register.”  The DPR 523 Form 
prepared for the Rheaume residence indicates that it is significant under criterions 2 and 3, in 
the area of an important person to local history and architecture, respectively, thereby 
qualifying this residence for the Carmel Register. 
 
Finding #2:  The proposed rehabilitation and maintenance plan is appropriate in scope and 
sufficient in detail to guide rehabilitation and long-term maintenance.  Required maintenance 

99



MA 16-264 (Rheaume) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
and rehabilitation should be more significant than just routine maintenance that would be 
expected for any property. 
 
Analysis:  Municipal Code Section 17.32.010 requires that the applicant submit a 
rehabilitation/restoration and maintenance plan for the historic resource prepared or reviewed 
by a qualified professional together with a cost estimate of the work to be done.  The applicant 
has submitted the required plan, which is included as Attachment B.  The plan was reviewed by 
Historic Preservation Consultant, Kent Seavey, who generally supports the maintenance plan 
and has concluded that it meets the intent of the Mills Act Program requirements, but 
recommends the following amendments to the maintenance program/Schedule of Work: 
 

1. Fireplace insert, hardwood floors, new washer and dryer, and water heater 
replacement are not eligible for the Mills Act.   

 
The issuance of a Mills Act contract states that the work done “should be more significant than 
just routine maintenance that would be expected for any property.”  The proposed work is a mix 
of significant and routine maintenance, which is typical of many Mills Act projects.   
 
Finding #3:  Alterations to the historic resource have been in the past, and will continue to be in 
the future, limited to interior work and to exterior rehabilitation and alterations that: 
 

(A) Comply with the Secretary’s Standards (future additions only), and 
(B) Do not significantly alter, damage or diminish any primary elevation or character-

defining feature, and 
(C) Do not increase floor area on the property by more than 15 percent beyond the 

amount established in the documented original or historic design of the resource, 
and 

(D) Do not result in any second-story addition to a single-story historic resource 
(E) Meet all zoning standards applicable to the location of the property. 

 
Analysis:  The residence has maintained its original size and footprint with no significant 
alterations.  A minor addition occurred in 1932 and a detached garage was added in 1950.  Staff 
notes that any future alterations would be required to be consistent with the Secretary’s 
Standards and consistent with the above noted requirements.   No changes are proposed at this 
time. 
 

100



MA 16-264 (Rheaume) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 5  
 
Finding #4:  The Mills Act contract will aid in offsetting the costs of rehabilitating and/or 
maintaining the historic resource and/or will offset potential losses of income that might 
otherwise be achieved on the property. 
 
Analysis:  The approval of this contract will assist in offsetting future costs of maintenance and 
will offset potential losses of income that might otherwise be achieved on the site had the 
residence not been identified as an historic resource. 
 
Finding #5:  Approval of the Mills Act contract will represent an equitable balance of public and 
private interests and will not result in substantial adverse financial impact on the City. 
 
Analysis:  Approval of the Mills Act Contract will be consistent with Goal 1-5 and Objective 1-16 
of the Land Use Element of the General Plan which encourages providing incentives for 
property owners to preserve and rehabilitate historic resources.  Although the adoption of all 
Mills Act Contracts will decrease the property taxes available to the City, this financial impact is 
minimal because: 1) only a limited number of properties can meet the requirements for a 
contract, 2) only a portion of the property tax from any single property will be lost, 3) only 
three new Mills Act contracts are allowed per year, and 4) the lost revenue to the City is offset 
by the value of preserving an important historic resource.  This contract represents an equitable 
balance of public and private interests.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Attachment A – Legal Property Description (to be submitted on Monday, July 18) 
• Attachment B – Restoration/Maintenance Plan (10 years) (to be submitted on 

 Monday, July 18) 
• Attachment C – Photographs of Property 
• Attachment D – DPR 523 Form  
• Attachment E – Secretary of the Interior Standards 
• Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract  
• Attachment G – Resolution for Carmel Register  

 

101



  
CLTA Preliminary Report Form Order Number:   2710-5072692   
(Rev. 11/06) Page Number:   1    
  

 

First American Title 
Page 1 of 13 

 

  
  

First American Title Company  
3855 Via Nona Marie, Ste. 100 

Carmel, California 93923 
  
  

  
  
Escrow Officer:  Linda Griffin Wilson 
Phone: (831)620-6533 
Fax No.: (866)377-7037 
E-Mail:  lgriffin@firstam.com 
  

  
E-Mail Loan Documents to: CarmelRanchoEdocs.ca@firstam.com  
  
  
Buyer:    
  
  
Property:   Vista Avenue and Mission Street  

Carmel, CA 93923 
  

PRELIMINARY REPORT 

In response to the above referenced application for a policy of title insurance, this company hereby reports that it is prepared to issue, or 
cause to be issued, as of the date hereof, a Policy or Policies of Title Insurance describing the land and the estate or interest therein 
hereinafter set forth, insuring against loss which may be sustained by reason of any defect, lien or encumbrance not shown or referred to as 
an Exception below or not excluded from coverage pursuant to the printed Schedules, Conditions and Stipulations of said Policy forms. 
  
The printed Exceptions and Exclusions from the coverage and Limitations on Covered Risks of said policy or policies are set forth in Exhibit A 
attached. The policy to be issued may contain an arbitration clause. When the Amount of Insurance is less than that set forth in the 
arbitration clause, all arbitrable matters shall be arbitrated at the option of either the Company or the Insured as the exclusive remedy of the 
parties. Limitations on Covered Risks applicable to the CLTA and ALTA Homeowner’s Policies of Title Insurance which establish a Deductible 
Amount and a Maximum Dollar Limit of Liability for certain coverages are also set forth in Exhibit A. Copies of the policy forms should be 
read. They are available from the office which issued this report. 
  
Please read the exceptions shown or referred to below and the exceptions and exclusions set forth in Exhibit A of this 
report carefully. The exceptions and exclusions are meant to provide you with notice of matters which are not covered 
under the terms of the title insurance policy and should be carefully considered. 
  
It is important to note that this preliminary report is not a written representation as to the condition of title and may not 
list all liens, defects, and encumbrances affecting title to the land. 
  
This report (and any supplements or amendments hereto) is issued solely for the purpose of facilitating the issuance of a policy of title 
insurance and no liability is assumed hereby. If it is desired that liability be assumed prior to the issuance of a policy of title insurance, a 
Binder or Commitment should be requested.  

102

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   2  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 2 of 13 

 

 
Dated as of January 19, 2016 at 7:30 A.M.  

The form of Policy of title insurance contemplated by this report is:  

ALTA/CLTA Homeowner's (EAGLE) Policy of Title Insurance (2010) and ALTA Ext Loan Policy 
1056.06 (06-17-06) if the land described is an improved residential lot or condominium unit on 
which there is located a one-to-four family residence; or ALTA Standard Owner's Policy 2006 
(WRE 06-17-06) and the ALTA Loan Policy 2006 (06-17-06) if the land described is an 
unimproved residential lot or condominium unit 

A specific request should be made if another form or additional coverage is desired.  

Title to said estate or interest at the date hereof is vested in:  
  

Y-LAN HO AND PHU HO, TRUSTEES OF THE HO FAMILY TRUST DATED NOVEMBER 8, 2005  

The estate or interest in the land hereinafter described or referred to covered by this Report is:  

FEE  

The Land referred to herein is described as follows:  
  
(See attached Legal Description)  
  
At the date hereof exceptions to coverage in addition to the printed Exceptions and Exclusions in said 
policy form would be as follows:  
  

1. General and special taxes and assessments for the fiscal year 2016-2017, a lien not yet due or 
payable. 

2. General and special taxes and assessments for the fiscal year 2015-2016. 
  

  First Installment:  $4,744.54, PAID   
  Penalty: $0.00  
  Second Installment:  $4,744.54, OPEN   
  Penalty: $0.00  
  Tax Rate Area:  001-000   
  A. P. No.:  010-115-006  
  

3. The lien of supplemental taxes, if any, assessed pursuant to Chapter 3.5 commencing with 
Section 75 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

103



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   3  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 3 of 13 

 

4. Covenants, conditions, restrictions and easements in the document recorded October 13, 1922 
as BOOK 6, PAGE 483  of Official Records, which provide that a violation thereof shall not defeat 
or render invalid the lien of any first mortgage or deed of trust made in good faith and for value, 
but deleting any covenant, condition, or restriction indicating a preference, limitation or 
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, disability, 
handicap, national origin, genetic information, gender, gender identity, gender expression, source 
of income (as defined in California Government Code § 12955(p)) or ancestry, to the extent such 
covenants, conditions or restrictions violation 42 U.S.C. § 3604(c) or California Government Code 
§ 12955.  Lawful restrictions under state and federal law on the age of occupants in senior 
housing or housing for older persons shall not be construed as restrictions based on familial 
status. 

5. A deed of trust to secure an original indebtedness of $530,000.00 recorded May 10, 
2005 as INSTRUMENT NO. 2005046417 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

  
  
  Dated: May 05, 2005  
  Trustor: PHU HO AND Y-LAN HO, HUSBAND AND WIFE 
  Trustee: FIRST AMERICAN TITLE COMPANY, A CALIFORNIA 

CORPORATION 
  Beneficiary: WYNNE H. HUTCHINGS AND SHEILA W. HUTCHINGS, 

TRUSTEES OF THE HUTCHINGS 1998 FAMILY TRUST 
      
  

  
Affects: The land and other property.  

  

Notes: 
a. If this deed of trust is to be eliminated in the policy or policies contemplated by this 
report/commitment, we will require all of the following prior to the recordation of any documents 
or the issuance of any policy of title insurance:  
i. Original note and deed of trust.  
ii. Payoff demand statement signed by all present beneficiaries.  
iii. Request for reconveyance signed by all present beneficiaries.  
b. If the payoff demand statement or the request for reconveyance is to be signed by a servicer, 
we will also require a full copy of the loan servicing agreement executed by all present 
beneficiaries.  
c. If any of the beneficial interest is presently held by trustees under a trust agreement, we will 
require a certification pursuant to Section 18100.5 of the California Probate Code in a form 
satisfactory to the Company  

Prior to the issuance of any policy of title insurance, the Company will require: 

6. With respect to the trust referred to in the vesting: 
a. A certification pursuant to Section 18100.5 of the California Probate Code in a form satisfactory 
to the Company. 
b. Copies of those excerpts from the original trust documents and amendments thereto which 
designate the trustee and confer upon the trustee the power to act in the pending transaction. 
c. Other requirements which the Company may impose following its review of the material 
required herein and other information which the Company may require.  

104

http://ep.firstam.com/Packages/TransferDocument?PackageID=5072013&DocID=52533353&ImageDocumentID=569309774


  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   4  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 4 of 13 

 

 
  

INFORMATIONAL NOTES 
  
Note: The policy to be issued may contain an arbitration clause. When the Amount of Insurance is less 
than the certain dollar amount set forth in any applicable arbitration clause, all arbitrable matters shall be 
arbitrated at the option of either the Company or the Insured as the exclusive remedy of the parties. If 
you desire to review the terms of the policy, including any arbitration clause that may be included, 
contact the office that issued this Commitment or Report to obtain a sample of the policy jacket for the 
policy that is to be issued in connection with your transaction. 
  

  

1. This report is preparatory to the issuance of an ALTA Loan Policy. We have no knowledge of any 
fact which would preclude the issuance of the policy with CLTA endorsement forms 100 and 116 
and if applicable, 115 and 116.2 attached. 
  
When issued, the CLTA endorsement form 116 or 116.2, if applicable will reference a(n) Single 
Family Residence  known as VISTA AVENUE AND MISSION STREET, CARMEL, CA. 

2. According to the public records, there has been no conveyance of the land within a period of 
twenty-four months prior to the date of this report, except as follows: 

  
None 

NOTE to proposed insured lender only: No Private transfer fee covenant, as defined in Federal 
Housing Finance Agency Final Rule 12 CFR Part 1228, that was created and first appears in the 
Public Records on or after February 8, 2011, encumbers the Title except as follows: None 

The map attached, if any, may or may not be a survey of the land depicted hereon. First American 
expressly disclaims any liability for loss or damage which may result from reliance on this map except to 
the extent coverage for such loss or damage is expressly provided by the terms and provisions of the title 
insurance policy, if any, to which this map is attached.  

105



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   5  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 5 of 13 

 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

  
Real property in the City of Carmel, County of Monterey, State of California, described as follows:  
  
THE WESTERLY 1/2 LOTS NUMBERED 17 AND 19, IN BLOCK NUMBERED 4-1/2, AS SAID LOTS 
AND BLOCK ARE SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED, "MAP OF ADDITION NO. 4 
CARMEL BY THE SEA", FILED FOR RECORD MARCH 6, 1908 IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF THE COUNTY OF MONTEREY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN VOLUME 1 OF MAPS, 
"CITIES AND TOWNS", AT PAGE 46-1/2.  

APN: 010-115-006  

106



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   6  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 6 of 13 

 

  
  

107



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   7  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 7 of 13 

 

NOTICE 
  

   
Section 12413.1 of the California Insurance Code, effective January 1, 1990, requires that any title insurance 
company, underwritten title company, or controlled escrow company handling funds in an escrow or sub-escrow 
capacity, wait a specified number of days after depositing funds, before recording any documents in connection 
with the transaction or disbursing funds. This statute allows for funds deposited by wire transfer to be disbursed 
the same day as deposit. In the case of cashier's checks or certified checks, funds may be disbursed the next day 
after deposit. In order to avoid unnecessary delays of three to seven days, or more, please use wire transfer, 
cashier's checks, or certified checks whenever possible. 
  

108



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   8  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 8 of 13 

 

 
  

 

First American Title Company  
126 Clock Tower Place, Suite 102  
Carmel, CA 93923  
(831)620-6533 

  

INCOMING DOMESTIC WIRE INSTRUCTIONS 
  

  
  
PAYABLE TO:  First American Title Company 
  
BANK: First American Trust, FSB    
  
ADDRESS: 5 First American Way, Santa Ana, CA 92707   
  
ACCOUNT NO:  3021520000  
  
ROUTING NUMBER:  122241255  
  
  
PLEASE REFERENCE THE FOLLOWING: 
  
PROPERTY:  
  

Vista Avenue and Mission Street, Carmel, CA 93923 

FILE NUMBER: 
  

2710-5072692 (LG) 

   
PLEASE USE THE ABOVE INFORMATION WHEN WIRING FUNDS TO First American 
Title Company. FUNDS MUST BE WIRED FROM A BANK WITHIN THE UNITED 
STATES. PLEASE NOTIFY YOUR ESCROW OFFICER AT (831)620-6533 OR 
lgriffin@firstam.com WHEN YOU HAVE TRANSMITTED YOUR WIRE.  
  
IF YOUR FUNDS ARE BEING WIRED FROM A NON-U.S. BANK, ADDITIONAL CHARGES MAY APPLY. 
PLEASE CONTACT YOUR ESCROW OFFICER/CLOSER FOR INTERNATIONAL WIRING INSTRUCTIONS.  
  
AN ACH TRANSFER CANNOT BE ACCEPTED FOR CLOSING, BECAUSE IT IS NOT THE SAME AS A WIRE 
AND REQUIRES ADDITIONAL TIME FOR CLEARANCE. 
  
FIRST AMERICAN TRUST CONTACT INFO: Banking Services  1-877-600-9473 
  

ALL WIRES WILL BE RETURNED IF THE FILE NUMBER 
AND/OR PROPERTY REFERENCE ARE NOT INCLUDED 

  
With cyber crimes on the increase, it is important to be ever vigilant. If you receive an e-mail or any 
other communication that appears to be generated from a First American employee that contains new, 
revised or altered bank wire instructions, consider it suspect and call our office at a number you trust. 
Our bank wire instructions seldom change. 
  

109



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   9  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 9 of 13 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

LIST OF PRINTED EXCEPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS (BY POLICY TYPE) 
   
  

CLTA/ALTA HOMEOWNER'S POLICY OF TITLE INSURANCE (02-03-10) 
EXCLUSIONS 

 
In addition to the Exceptions in Schedule B, You are not insured against loss, costs, attorneys' fees, and expenses resulting from: 
  
1. Governmental police power, and the existence or violation of those portions of any law or government regulation concerning: 
  
 (a) building;                                   (d) improvements on the Land; 
 (b) zoning;                                     (e) land division; and 
 (c) land use;                                   (f) environmental protection. 
  
  This Exclusion does not limit the coverage described in Covered Risk 8.a., 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 23 or 27. 
2. The failure of Your existing structures, or any part of them, to be constructed in accordance with applicable building codes.  This Exclusion 

does not limit the coverage described in Covered Risk 14 or 15. 
3. The right to take the Land by condemning it.  This Exclusion does not limit the coverage described in Covered Risk 17. 
4. Risks: 
  (a) that are created, allowed, or agreed to by You, whether or not they are recorded in the Public Records;  
  (b) that are Known to You at the Policy Date, but not to Us, unless they are recorded in the Public Records at the Policy Date;  
  (c) that result in no loss to You; or  
  (d) that first occur after the Policy Date - this does not limit the coverage described in Covered Risk 7, 8.e., 25, 26, 27 or 28. 
5. Failure to pay value for Your Title. 
6. Lack of a right: 
  (a) to any land outside the area specifically described and referred to in paragraph 3 of Schedule A; and 
  (b) in streets, alleys, or waterways that touch the Land. 
  This Exclusion does not limit the coverage described in Covered Risk 11 or 21. 
7. The transfer of the Title to You is invalid as a preferential transfer or as a fraudulent transfer or conveyance under federal bankruptcy, state 

insolvency, or similar creditors' rights laws. 
  

  
LIMITATIONS ON COVERED RISKS 

 
Your insurance for the following Covered Risks is limited on the Owner's Coverage Statement as follows:  For Covered Risk 16, 18, 19, and 21 
Your Deductible Amount and Our Maximum Dollar Limit of Liability shown in Schedule A. 
  
 
  
 
  

Your Deductible Amount Our Maximum Dollar 
Limit of Liability 

Covered Risk 16: 1% of Policy Amount or $2,500.00 (whichever is less) $10,000.00
Covered Risk 18: 1% of Policy Amount or $5,000.00 (whichever is less) $25,000.00
Covered Risk 19: 1% of Policy Amount or $5,000.00 (whichever is less) $25,000.00
Covered Risk 21: 1% of Policy Amount or $2,500.00 (whichever is less) $5,000.00
  

  
  

ALTA RESIDENTIAL TITLE INSURANCE POLICY (6-1-87) 
EXCLUSIONS 

 
In addition to the Exceptions in Schedule B, you are not insured against loss, costs, attorneys' fees, and expenses resulting from: 
  
1. Governmental  police  power,  and  the  existence  or  violation  of  any  law  or government regulation.  This includes building and zoning 

ordinances and also laws and regulations concerning: 
  
 (a) and use 
 (b) improvements on the land 
 (c) and division 
 (d) environmental protection 
  
  This exclusion does not apply to violations or the enforcement of these matters which appear in the public records at Policy Date. 
  This exclusion does not limit the zoning coverage described in Items 12 and 13 of Covered Title Risks. 
2. The right to take the land by condemning it, unless: 

110



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   10  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 10 of 13 

 

  (a) a notice of exercising the right appears in the public records on the Policy Date 
  (b) the taking happened prior to the Policy Date and is binding on you if you bought the land without knowing of the taking 
3. Title Risks: 
  (a) that are created, allowed, or agreed to by you 
  (b) that are known to you, but not to us, on the Policy Date -- unless they appeared in the public records 
  (c) that result in no loss to you 
  (d) that first affect your title after the Policy Date -- this does not limit the labor and material lien coverage in Item 8 of Covered Title Risks 
4. Failure to pay value for your title. 
5. Lack of a right: 
  (a) to any land outside the area specifically described and referred to in Item 3 of Schedule A OR 
  (b) in streets, alleys, or waterways that touch your land 
  This exclusion does not limit the access coverage in Item 5 of Covered Title Risks. 
  

  
  

2006 ALTA LOAN POLICY (06-17-06) 
EXCLUSIONS FROM COVERAGE 

 
The following matters are expressly excluded from the coverage of this policy, and the Company will not pay loss or damage, costs, attorneys' 
fees, or expenses that arise by reason of: 
  
1. (a) Any law, ordinance, permit, or governmental regulation (including those relating to building and zoning) restricting, regulating, 

prohibiting, or relating to 
  
 (i) the occupancy, use, or enjoyment of the Land; 
 (ii) the character, dimensions, or location of any improvement erected on the Land; 
 (iii) the subdivision of land; or 
 (iv) environmental protection; 
  
  or the effect of any violation of these laws, ordinances, or governmental regulations. This Exclusion 1(a) does not modify or limit the 

coverage provided under Covered Risk 5. 
  (b) Any governmental police power. This Exclusion 1(b) does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 6. 
2. Rights of eminent domain. This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 7 or 8. 
3. Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims, or other matters 
  (a) created, suffered, assumed, or agreed to by the Insured Claimant; 
  (b) not Known to the Company, not recorded in the Public Records at Date of Policy, but Known to the Insured Claimant and not disclosed 

in writing to the Company by the Insured Claimant prior to the date the Insured Claimant became an Insured under this policy; 
  (c) resulting in no loss or damage to the Insured Claimant; 
  (d) attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy (however, this does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 11, 

13, or 14); or 
  (e) resulting in loss or damage that would not have been sustained if the Insured Claimant had paid value for the Insured Mortgage. 
4. Unenforceability of the lien of the Insured Mortgage because of the inability or failure of an Insured to comply with applicable doing-

business laws of the state where the Land is situated. 
5. Invalidity or unenforceability in whole or in part of the lien of the Insured Mortgage that arises out of the transaction evidenced by the 

Insured Mortgage and is based upon usury or any consumer credit protection or truth-in-lending law. 
6. Any claim, by reason of the operation of federal bankruptcy, state insolvency, or similar creditors' rights laws, that the transaction creating 

the lien of the Insured Mortgage, is 
  (a) a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, or 
  (b) a preferential transfer for any reason not stated in Covered Risk 13(b) of this policy. 
7. Any lien on the Title for real estate taxes or assessments imposed by governmental authority and created or attaching between Date of 

Policy and the date of recording of the Insured Mortgage in the Public Records. This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage 
provided under Covered Risk 11(b). 

  
  
The above policy form may be issued to afford either Standard Coverage or Extended Coverage.  In addition to the above Exclusions from 
Coverage, the Exceptions from Coverage in a Standard Coverage policy will also include the following Exceptions from Coverage: 
 

EXCEPTIONS FROM COVERAGE 
 
This policy does not insure against loss or damage (and the Company will not pay costs, attorneys' fees or expenses) that arise by reason of: 

  
1. (a) Taxes or assessments that are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing authority that levies taxes or assessments on real 

property or by the Public Records; (b) proceedings by a public agency  that may result in taxes or assessments, or notices of such 
proceedings, whether or not shown by the records of such agency or by the Public Records. 

2. Any facts, rights, interests, or claims that are not shown by the Public Records but that could be ascertained by an inspection of the Land or 
that may be asserted by  persons in possession of the Land. 

3. Easements, liens or encumbrances, or claims thereof, not shown by the Public Records. 

111



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   11  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 11 of 13 

 

4. Any encroachment, encumbrance, violation, variation, or adverse circumstance affecting the Title that would be disclosed by an accurate 
and complete land survey of the Land and not shown by the Public Records. 

5. (a) Unpatented mining claims; (b) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing the issuance thereof; (c) water rights, claims 
or title to water, whether or not the matters excepted under (a), (b), or (c) are shown by the Public Records. 

6. Any lien or right to a lien for services, labor or material not shown by the public records. 
  

  
  

2006 ALTA OWNER'S POLICY (06-17-06) 
EXCLUSIONS FROM COVERAGE 

 
The following matters are expressly excluded from the coverage of this policy, and the Company will not pay loss or damage, costs, attorneys' 
fees, or expenses that arise by reason of: 
  
1. (a) Any law, ordinance, permit, or governmental regulation (including those relating to building and zoning) restricting, regulating, 

prohibiting, or relating to 
  
 (i) the occupancy, use, or enjoyment of the Land; 
 (ii) the character, dimensions, or location of any improvement erected on the Land; 
 (iii) the subdivision of land; or 
 (iv) environmental protection; 
  
  or the effect of any violation of these laws, ordinances, or governmental regulations. This Exclusion 1(a) does not modify or limit the 

coverage provided under Covered Risk 5. 
  (b) Any governmental police power. This Exclusion 1(b) does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 6. 
2. Rights of eminent domain. This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 7 or 8. 
3. Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims, or other matters 
  (a) created, suffered, assumed, or agreed to by the Insured Claimant; 
  (b) not Known to the Company, not recorded in the Public Records at Date of Policy, but Known to the Insured Claimant and not disclosed 

in writing to the Company by the Insured Claimant prior to the date the Insured Claimant became an Insured under this policy; 
  (c) resulting in no loss or damage to the Insured Claimant; 
  (d) attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy (however, this does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 9 or 

10); or 
  (e) resulting in loss or damage that would not have been sustained if the Insured Claimant had paid value for the Title. 
4. Any claim, by reason of the operation of federal bankruptcy, state insolvency, or similar creditors' rights laws, that the transaction vesting 

the Title as shown in Schedule A, is 
  (a) a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, or 
  (b) a preferential transfer for any reason not stated in Covered Risk 9 of this policy. 
5. Any lien on the Title for real estate taxes or assessments imposed by governmental authority and created or attaching between Date of 

Policy and the date of recording of the deed or other instrument of transfer in the Public Records that vests Title as shown in Schedule A. 
  
  
The above policy form may be issued to afford either Standard Coverage or Extended Coverage.  In addition to the above Exclusions from 
Coverage, the Exceptions from Coverage in a Standard Coverage policy will also include the following Exceptions from Coverage: 
 

EXCEPTIONS FROM COVERAGE 
 
This policy does not insure against loss or damage (and the Company will not pay costs, attorneys' fees or expenses) that arise by reason of: 
  
1. (a) Taxes or assessments that are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing authority that levies taxes or assessments on real 

property or by the Public Records; (b) proceedings by a public agency  that may result in taxes or assessments, or notices of such 
proceedings, whether or not shown by the records of such agency or by the Public Records. 

2. Any facts, rights, interests, or claims that are not shown by the Public Records but that could be ascertained by an inspection of the Land or 
that may be asserted by  persons in possession of the Land. 

3. Easements, liens or encumbrances, or claims thereof, not shown by the Public Records. 
4. Any encroachment, encumbrance, violation, variation, or adverse circumstance affecting the Title that would be disclosed by an accurate 

and complete land survey of the Land and not shown by the Public Records. 
5. (a) Unpatented mining claims; (b) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing the issuance thereof; (c) water rights, claims 

or title to water, whether or not the matters excepted under (a), (b), or (c) are shown by the Public Records. 
6. Any lien or right to a lien for services, labor or material not shown by the public records. 

  

  
  

ALTA EXPANDED COVERAGE RESIDENTIAL LOAN POLICY (07-26-10) 
EXCLUSIONS FROM COVERAGE 

 
The following matters are expressly excluded from the coverage of this policy, and the Company will not pay loss or damage, costs, attorneys' 
fees, or expenses that arise by reason of: 
  

112



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   12  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 12 of 13 

 

1. (a) Any law, ordinance, permit, or governmental regulation (including those relating to building and zoning) restricting, regulating, 
prohibiting, or relating to 

  
 (i) the occupancy, use, or enjoyment of the Land; 
 (ii) the character, dimensions, or location of any improvement erected on the Land; 
 (iii) the subdivision of land; or 
 (iv) environmental protection; 
  
  or the effect of any violation of these laws, ordinances, or governmental regulations.  This Exclusion 1(a) does not modify or limit the 

coverage provided under Covered Risk  5, 6, 13(c), 13(d), 14 or 16. 
  (b) Any governmental police power. This Exclusion 1(b) does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 5, 6, 13(c), 

13(d), 14 or 16. 
2. Rights of eminent domain. This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 7 or 8. 
3. Defects, liens, encumbrances, adverse claims, or other matters 
  (a) created, suffered, assumed, or agreed to by the Insured Claimant; 
  (b) not Known to the Company, not recorded in the Public Records at Date of Policy, but Known to the Insured Claimant and not disclosed 

in writing to the Company by the Insured Claimant prior to the date the Insured Claimant became an Insured under this policy; 
  (c) resulting in no loss or damage to the Insured Claimant; 
  (d) attaching or created subsequent to Date of Policy (however, this does not modify or limit the coverage provided under Covered Risk 11, 

16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 27 or 28); or 
  (e) resulting in loss or damage that would not have been sustained if the Insured Claimant had paid value for the Insured Mortgage. 
4. Unenforceability of the lien of the Insured Mortgage because of the inability or failure of an Insured to comply with applicable doing-

business laws of the state where the Land is situated. 
5. Invalidity or unenforceability in whole or in part of the lien of the Insured Mortgage that arises out of the transaction evidenced by the 

Insured Mortgage and is based upon usury or any consumer credit protection or truth-in-lending law. This Exclusion does not modify or limit 
the coverage provided in Covered Risk 26. 

6. Any claim of invalidity, unenforceability or lack of priority of the lien of the Insured Mortgage as to Advances or modifications made after the 
Insured has Knowledge that the vestee shown in Schedule A is no longer the owner of the estate or interest covered by this policy. This 
Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided in Covered Risk 11. 

7. Any lien on the Title for real estate taxes or assessments imposed by governmental authority and created or attaching subsequent to Date 
of Policy. This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided in Covered Risk 11(b) or 25. 

8. The failure of the residential structure, or any portion of it, to have been constructed before, on or after Date of Policy in accordance with 
applicable building codes.  This Exclusion does not modify or limit the coverage provided in Covered Risk 5 or 6. 

9. Any claim, by reason of the operation of federal bankruptcy, state insolvency, or similar creditors' rights laws, that the transaction creating 
the lien of the Insured Mortgage, is 

  (a) a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, or 
  (b) a preferential transfer for any reason not stated in Covered Risk 27(b) of this policy. 
  

113



  
Order Number:   2710-5072692  
Page Number:   13  

  

 

First American Title 
Page 13 of 13 

 

 

 
Privacy Information  
We Are Committed to Safeguarding Customer Information 
In order to better serve your needs now and in the future, we may ask you to provide us with certain information. We understand that you may be concerned about what we will do with such 
information - particularly any personal or financial information. We agree that you have a right to know how we will utilize the personal information you provide to us. Therefore, together with our 
subsidiaries we have adopted this Privacy Policy to govern the use and handling of your personal information. 
 
Applicability 
This Privacy Policy governs our use of the information that you provide to us. It does not govern the manner in which we may use information we have obtained from any other source, such as 
information obtained from a public record or from another person or entity. First American has also adopted broader guidelines that govern our use of personal information regardless of its source. 
First American calls these guidelines its Fair Information Values. 
 
Types of Information 
Depending upon which of our services you are utilizing, the types of nonpublic personal information that we may collect include: 

• Information we receive from you on applications, forms and in other communications to us, whether in writing, in person, by telephone or any other means;  
• Information about your transactions with us, our affiliated companies, or others; and  
• Information we receive from a consumer reporting agency.  

Use of Information 
We request information from you for our own legitimate business purposes and not for the benefit of any nonaffiliated party. Therefore, we will not release your information to nonaffiliated parties 
except: (1) as necessary for us to provide the product or service you have requested of us; or (2) as permitted by law. We may, however, store such information indefinitely, including the period 
after which any customer relationship has ceased. Such information may be used for any internal purpose, such as quality control efforts or customer analysis. We may also provide all of the types of 
nonpublic personal information listed above to one or more of our affiliated companies. Such affiliated companies include financial service providers, such as title insurers, property and casualty 
insurers, and trust and investment advisory companies, or companies involved in real estate services, such as appraisal companies, home warranty companies and escrow companies. Furthermore, 
we may also provide all the information we collect, as described above, to companies that perform marketing services on our behalf, on behalf of our affiliated companies or to other financial 
institutions with whom we or our affiliated companies have joint marketing agreements. 
 
Former Customers 
Even if you are no longer our customer, our Privacy Policy will continue to apply to you. 
 
Confidentiality and Security 
We will use our best efforts to ensure that no unauthorized parties have access to any of your information. We restrict access to nonpublic personal information about you to those individuals and 
entities who need to know that information to provide products or services to you. We will use our best efforts to train and oversee our employees and agents to ensure that your information will be 
handled responsibly and in accordance with this Privacy Policy and First American's Fair Information Values. We currently maintain physical, electronic, and procedural safeguards that comply with 
federal regulations to guard your nonpublic personal information. 
 
Information Obtained Through Our Web Site 
First American Financial Corporation is sensitive to privacy issues on the Internet. We believe it is important you know how we treat the information about you we receive on the Internet. 
In general, you can visit First American or its affiliates’ Web sites on the World Wide Web without telling us who you are or revealing any information about yourself. Our Web servers collect the 
domain names, not the e-mail addresses, of visitors. This information is aggregated to measure the number of visits, average time spent on the site, pages viewed and similar information. First 
American uses this information to measure the use of our site and to develop ideas to improve the content of our site. 
There are times, however, when we may need information from you, such as your name and email address. When information is needed, we will use our best efforts to let you know at the time of 
collection how we will use the personal information. Usually, the personal information we collect is used only by us to respond to your inquiry, process an order or allow you to access specific 
account/profile information. If you choose to share any personal information with us, we will only use it in accordance with the policies outlined above. 
 
Business Relationships 
First American Financial Corporation's site and its affiliates' sites may contain links to other Web sites. While we try to link only to sites that share our high standards and respect for privacy, we are 
not responsible for the content or the privacy practices employed by other sites. 
 
Cookies 
Some of First American's Web sites may make use of "cookie" technology to measure site activity and to customize information to your personal tastes. A cookie is an element of data that a Web site 
can send to your browser, which may then store the cookie on your hard drive. 
FirstAm.com uses stored cookies. The goal of this technology is to better serve you when visiting our site, save you time when you are here and to provide you with a more meaningful and 
productive Web site experience. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Fair Information Values 
Fairness We consider consumer expectations about their privacy in all our businesses. We only offer products and services that assure a favorable balance between consumer benefits and consumer 
privacy. 
Public Record We believe that an open public record creates significant value for society, enhances consumer choice and creates consumer opportunity. We actively support an open public record 
and emphasize its importance and contribution to our economy. 
Use We believe we should behave responsibly when we use information about a consumer in our business. We will obey the laws governing the collection, use and dissemination of data. 
Accuracy We will take reasonable steps to help assure the accuracy of the data we collect, use and disseminate. Where possible, we will take reasonable steps to correct inaccurate information. 
When, as with the public record, we cannot correct inaccurate information, we will take all reasonable steps to assist consumers in identifying the source of the erroneous data so that the consumer 
can secure the required corrections. 
Education We endeavor to educate the users of our products and services, our employees and others in our industry about the importance of consumer privacy. We will instruct our employees on 
our fair information values and on the responsible collection and use of data. We will encourage others in our industry to collect and use information in a responsible manner. 
Security We will maintain appropriate facilities and systems to protect against unauthorized access to and corruption of the data we maintain. 

 Form 50-PRIVACY (9/1/10) Page 1 of 1 Privacy Information (2001-2010 First American Financial Corporation) 

114



115

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



Here are pictures of Vista 2NM of Mission, Carmel, CA after we purchased the property on March 3, 
2016.  We have already started a maintenance plan as we prepare the property for inhabitance. The 
work includes landscaping front yard, securing rustic old grape stake fence, installing a new gas fireplace 
insert to enable the use of the fireplace as well as interior and some exterior painting. 

 

116



 

117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



 

 

  

125



We purchased Vista 2NW of Mission on March 3, 2016.  Here are some pictures of the home prior to our 
purchase.  

126



127



128



129



 

 

130



131

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment D



132



133



 
SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS FOR THE TREATMENT 

OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES (Rehabilitation) 
 
1. “A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 
requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and 
environment." 
 
2. "The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The 
removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a 
property shall be avoided." 
 
3. "Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 
use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be 
undertaken."  
 
4. "Most properties change over time; changes that have acquired historic 
significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved."  
 
5. "Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved." 
 
6. "Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where 
the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by 
documentary, physical, and pictorial evidence." 
 
7. "Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 
historic materials shall not be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, 
shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible." 
 
8. "Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected 
and preserved.  If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken. 
 
9. "New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not 
destroy historic materials that characterize the property.  The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 
architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment." 
 
10. "New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired." 

134

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment E



Attachment F – Draft Mills Act Contract 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
CITY CLERK 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
NAME:  CITY CLERK 
  CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
 
ADDRESS: CITY HALL 
  PO DRAWER G 
  CARMEL, CA 93921 
 

CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
MILLS ACT AGREEMENT 

HISTORIC PROPERTY PRESERVATION CONTRACT 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __ day of December, 2016 by and between the 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), and Ken 
Rheaume (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”). 
 
RECITALS 

 
(i) California Government Code Section 50280, et seq. (known as the Mills Act) authorizes 

cities to enter into contracts with the owners of qualified historic properties to provide for 
their appropriate use, maintenance and restoration such that these historic properties 
retain their historic characteristics; 

 
(ii) The Owner possesses fee title in and to that certain real property, together with associated 

structures and improvements thereon, located at the northeast corner of Dolores Street 
and 12th Avenue (APN: 010-115-006), Carmel, California, (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Historic Property”).  A legal description of the Historic Property is attached hereto, 
marked as Exhibit “A” and is incorporated herein by this reference; 

 
(iii) The property is identified as an historic resource on the City of Carmel’s Register of 

Historic Resources; 
 

(iv) City and Owner, for their mutual benefit, now desire to enter into this Agreement both to 
protect and preserve the characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property, 
and to qualify the Historic Property for an assessment of valuation pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 1.9 (commencing with section 439) of Chapter 3 of Part 2 of 
Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City and Owner, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
contained herein, do hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM.  This Agreement shall be effective and commence on 

1 January 2017, unless otherwise indicated by Monterey County, and shall remain in 
effect for a term of ten (10) years thereafter. 

 
2. AUTOMATIC RENEWAL.  Each year, upon the anniversary of the effective date of this 

Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “annual renewal date”), one (1) year shall be added 
automatically to the term of this Agreement, unless timely notice of nonrenewal is given 

135



as provided in paragraph 3 of this Agreement.  The total length of the contract shall not 
exceed twenty (20) years.   

 
3. NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If City or Owner desires in any year not to renew this 

Agreement, that party shall serve written notice of nonrenewal in advance of the annual 
renewal date of this Agreement as follows:  Owner must serve written notice of 
nonrenewal at least ninety (90) days prior to the annual renewal date; City must serve 
written notice of the nonrenewal at least sixty (60) days prior to the annual renewal date.  
Upon receipt by Owner of a notice of nonrenewal from the City, Owner may make a 
written protest.  At any time prior to the annual renewal date, City may withdraw its 
notice of nonrenewal. 

 
4. EFFECT OF NOTICE OF NONRENEWAL.  If either City or Owner serves timely 

notice of nonrenewal in any year, and this contract is not renewed, this Agreement shall 
remain in effect only for the remaining nine (9) years from the last annual renewal date. 

 
5. VALUATION OF PROPERTY.  During the term of this Agreement, Owner is entitled to 

seek assessment of valuation of the Historic Property pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 3 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 
6. PRESERVATION OF PROPERTY. Owner shall preserve and maintain the 

characteristics of historical significance of the Historic Property.  Attached hereto marked 
as Exhibit “B”, and incorporated herein by this reference, is a list of those minimum 
standards and conditions for maintenance, use and preservation of the Historic Property, 
which shall apply to such property throughout the term of this Agreement.  The Owner 
agrees to complete rehabilitation and/or maintenance activities of the structure and 
comply with such conditions as specified in Exhibit “B” including the conditions outlined 
by the City’s Historic Preservation Consultant.   Requests for substantial revisions to the 
maintenance and rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed by the Historic Resources Board 
prior to implementation.  In addition, Owner shall comply with the terms of the City’s 
Historic Preservation Ordinance (CMC 17.32).  Owners shall not be permitted to further 
impede the view corridor with any new structure, such as walls, fences, or shrubbery, so 
as to prevent the viewing of the Historic Property from the public right-of-way. 

 
7. RESTORATION OF PROPERTY.  Owner shall, where necessary, restore and 

rehabilitate the Historic Property to conform to the rules and regulations of the Office of 
Historic Preservation of the State Department of Parks and Recreation, U. S. Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, State Historical Building Code, and the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, all as amended.  This scope of work could exceed that defined in the 
Owner’s work program included as Attachment B. 

 
8. INSPECTIONS.  Owner shall allow periodic examinations, with reasonable notice 

thereof, of the interior and exterior of the Historic Property by representatives of the 
County Assessor, the State Department of Parks and Recreation, the State Board of 
Equalization, the City and other agencies as may be necessary to determine Owner’s 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
9. PROVISION OF INFORMATION.  Owner shall furnish the City with any and all 

information requested by City, which City deems necessary or advisable to determine 
compliance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
10. ANNUAL REPORT.  Owner shall submit an annual report at least 90 days prior to each 

annual renewal date to the Department of Planning and Building specifying all work that 
has been done to maintain and preserve the historic resource over the preceding year in 
compliance with the approved maintenance plan. 

136



 
11. CANCELLATION.  The City has the right to cancel the contract if the historic resource 

is damaged or destroyed by unauthorized additions, alterations or remodeling.  The City 
also has the right to cancel this contract if the owners(s) have repeatedly failed to comply 
with the provisions of paragraph’s # 6, 7, 8 or 10 of this Agreement after the City has 
provided reasonable notice of any failure to comply with the agreement.  Cancellation of 
a contract by the City consistent with the provisions of this paragraph requires a public 
hearing and, if cancelled, results in the immediate termination of the contract and a 
penalty equal to 12.5 percent of the assessed market value of the property.  City’s right to 
cancel this Agreement pursuant to this paragraph shall in no way limit or restrict its rights 
or legal remedies arising from City’s Historic Preservation Ordinance and Municipal 
Code. 

 
12. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In lieu of and/or in addition to any provisions to 

cancel this Agreement as referenced herein, City may specifically enforce, or enjoin the 
breach of, the terms of this Agreement. 

 
13. WAIVER.  City does not waive any claim or default by Owner if City does not enforce or 

cancel this Agreement.  All remedies at law or in equity, which are not otherwise 
provided for this Agreement or in City’s regulations governing historic properties are 
available to City to pursue in the event there is a breach of this Agreement.  No waiver by 
City of any breach or default under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any 
other subsequent breach thereof or default hereunder. 

 
14. BINDING EFFECT OF AGREEMENT.  Owner hereby subjects the Historic Property to 

the covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth in this Agreement.  City and Owner 
hereby declare their specific intent that the covenants, reservations, and restrictions as set 
forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with the land and shall pass to and be 
binding upon Owner’s successors and assigns in title or interest to the Historic Property.  
A successor in interest shall have the same rights and obligations under this Agreement as 
the original owner who executed the Agreement. 

 
Each and every contract, deed or other instrument hereinafter executed, governing or 
conveying the Historic Property, or any portion thereof, shall conclusively be held to 
have been executed, delivered and accepted subject to the covenants, reservations and 
restrictions expressed in this Agreement regardless of whether such covenants, 
reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instrument. 
 
City and Owner hereby declare their understanding and intent that the burden of the 
covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein touch and concern the land in that 
it restricts development of the Historic Property.  City and Owner hereby further declare 
their understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants, reservations and 
restrictions touch and concern the land by enhancing and maintaining the cultural and 
historic characteristics and significance of the Historic Property for the benefit of the 
public and Owner. 

 
15. NOTICE.  Any notice required to be given by the terms of this Agreement shall be 

provided at the address of the respective parties as specified below, by personal delivery 
or United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
City:   Carmel-by-the-Sea 
   Community Development Department 
   PO Drawer G 
   Carmel, CA 93921 
 

137



 
Owner:    Ken Rheaume  
               319 Bishop Avenue  
               Sunnyvale, CA 94086 
 

16. Recordation.  No later than twenty (20) days after the parties execute and enter into this 
Agreement, the City shall cause this Agreement to be recorded in the Office of the 
County Recorder of the County of Monterey. 

 
17. The Owner or agent of Owner shall provide written notice of this Agreement to the State 

Office of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of the date of this Agreement. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement shall be constructed and governed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Should either party to this agreement 
bring legal action against the other, the case shall be handled in Monterey County, 
California and the party prevailing in such action shall be entitled to a reasonable attorney 
fee which shall be fixed by the judge hearing the case and such fee shall be included in 
the judgment together with all costs.   

 
19. Amendments.  This agreement may be amended in whole or in part, only by a written-

recorded instrument executed by the parties hereto. 
 
20. DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY; EMINENT DOMAIN; CANCELLATION.  If the 

Historic Property is destroyed by earthquake, fire, flood, or other natural disaster such 
that in the opinion of the City Building Official more than sixty percent (60%) of the 
original fabric of the structure must be preplaced, this Agreement shall be cancelled 
because the historic value of the structure will have been destroyed.  If the Historic 
Property is acquired in whole or in part by eminent domain or other acquisition by any 
entity authorized to exercise the power of eminent domain, and the acquisition is 
determined by the City Council to frustrate the purpose of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall be cancelled.  No cancellation fee pursuant to Government Code Section 
50286 shall be imposed if the Agreement is cancelled pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION.  Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City and its 

elected officials, officers, agents and employees from any actual or alleged claims, 
demands, causes of action, liability, loss, damage, or injury to property or persons, 
including wrongful death, whether imposed by a court of law or by administrative action 
of any federal, state or local government agency, arising out of or incident to the direct or 
indirect use, operation, or maintenance of the Historic Property by Owner or any 
contractor, subcontractor, employee, agent, lessee, licensee, invitee, or any other person; 
(ii) Owner’s activities in connection with the Historic Property; and (iii) any restriction 
on the use of development of the Historic Property, from application or enforcement of 
the City’s Municipal Code, or from the enforcement of this Agreement.  This 
indemnification includes, without limitation, the payment of all penalties, fines, 
judgments, awards, decrees, attorneys’ fees, and related costs or expenses, and the 
reimbursement of the City, its elected officials, employees, and/or agents for all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by each of them.  Owner’s obligation to indemnify shall 
survive the termination, cancellation, or expiration of this Agreement and shall not be 
restricted to insurance proceeds, if any, received by City, its elected officials, employees, 
or agents. 

 
22. SEVERABILITY.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to 

be unenforceable or invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, or by subsequent 
preemptive legislation, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions, or 
portions thereof, shall not be affected thereby. 

138



 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the City and Owners have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written above. 
 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA: 
 
 
 
By: _______________________   Date: __________________ 
 
Name: Chip Rerig  
 
Title: City Administrator  
 
 
 
PROPERTY OWNER: 
 
 
 
By: __________________________   Date:   ___________________ 
 
Name:  Ken Rheaume  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

139



Return to: 
Carmel City Hall 
Post Office Drawer G 
Carmel, CA 93921 
Attention:  Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
 

QUALIFYING AN HISTORIC RESOURCE FOR LISTING ON CARMEL REGISTER 
 
The subject property is designated a Historical Resource per Resolution recorded with the Monterey 
County Recorder on January 4, 2007 (Document 2007001166).  This Resolution qualifies the subject 
resource to be placed on the Carmel Register which will allow the property owner to take advantage of a 
preservation incentive program to include the Mills Act Historical Property Contracts. 
 
This Resolution is being recorded pursuant to section 5029(b) of the California Public Resources Code 
that requires the City to record all historic resource determinations.  This action also is taken in 
furtherance of the Local Coastal Program certified by the California Coastal Commission and 
implemented by the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Ordinances No. 2004-01 and 2004-02. 
 
As stated in the Carmel Municipal Code Section 17.32.040.C, the resource (in this case a residence)  
should be a minimum of 50 years of age and shall meet at least one of the  four  criteria  for  listing  in  
the  California  Register  at  a  national  or  Statewide level   of   significance   (primary   resource)   or   at   
a   regional   or   local   level   of significance (local resource) per CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(a) 
(3):  (1). Is  associated  with  events  that  have  made  a  significant  contribution  to the  broad  patterns  
of  local  or  regional  history  or  the  cultural  heritage  of California or the United States; (2) Is  
associated  with  the  lives  of  persons  important  to  local,  California  or national history; (3) Embodies  
the  distinctive  characteristics  of  a  type,  period,  region,  or method of construction, or represents the 
work of a master, an important creative individual, or possesses  high artistic values; or (4) Has  yielded,  
or  has  the  potential  to  yield,  information  important  to  the prehistory or history of the local area, 
California or the nation.  This resource is over 50 years of age and meets criteria #2 and #3. 

 
Assessor’s Parcel Number:  010-115-006 
Block:  4.5      Lot(s):  West ½ of 17 and 19       
Current Owner:  Ken Rheaume    
Street Location:  Vista Avenue, 2 NW of Mission Avenue 

 
It is the purpose of this Resolution to alert the owner, the successors and assigns to the existence of an 
historic resource on the property.  This historic resource is protected under laws of the State of California 
and of the City of Carmel-by-the-Sea including the California Coastal Act, the California Public 
Resources Code, the Carmel-by-the-Sea Municipal Code and the Local Coastal Program.   
 
Attachment A – Property Legal Description (13 pages)   Attachment B – DPR Form523 (3 pages) 
 
Certified by: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew Sundt, 
Contract Planner, Carmel-by-the-Sea 
 
T:\Applications\MA Mills Act\MA 16-246 (Rheaume) 

140

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment G



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Planning Commission Report 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Erik Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Consideration of a roof-mounted sound wall and visual barrier (DR 16-
229) for an existing historic hotel located in the Multi-Family Residential 
(R-4) Zoning District.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Determine project consistency with the Secretary of the Interior Standards.  
 
Application: DR 16-229 APN: 010-264-007 
Location:  Sixth Avenue, 3 SW of San Carlos 
Block:  O  Lot: 1 – 12 
Owner/Applicant:  Carmel Hotel Properties  
 
Background and Project Description:  
 
The La Playa Hotel is listed on the Carmel Historic Inventory but is not on the City Register.  As 
stated in the DPR Form 523 prepared in 2002, the La Playa is significant under California 
Register criteria 1, in the area of history as one of the earliest remaining artist’s studios in 
Carmel, and one of the most notable hostelries in the history of the village.  It is also significant 
under criteria 3, in the area of architecture as one of the few artist designed studio buildings 
remaining in Carmel. 
 
The La Playa Hotel has a roof mounted kitchen exhaust system that has been in existence for 
many years.  This exhaust system sits directly above the kitchen which is located at the corner 
of Camino Real and 8th Avenue.  The exhaust system ducts can be seen from the intersection of 
Camino Real and 8th Avenue and are visible to the hotel guests from various rooms that 
overlook 8th Avenue, as well a being visible to the residences on 8th Avenue and Camino Real.  
In addition to being visible, the exhaust system is noisy and significantly affects the guest 
experience at the hotel as well as the neighborhood.  The La Play hotel owner would like to 

141



DR 16-229 (La Playa) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2 
 
reduce the noise and visibility of the exhaust system.  To accomplish the goal of reducing the 
noise and visual impacts, the property owner proposes to install a roof mounted stucco sound 
wall / visual barrier around the existing exhausts and ducts.  There is no roof over the proposed 
project.  Work was started by the applicant without permits and was subsequently red tagged 
on or about May 20, 2016, by the City’s Code Enforcement Officer. 
 
Prior to the current proposed project the La Playa had a balustrade perched on the roof 
fronting 8th Avenue in an east/west tangent and a small portion of balustrade running 
north/south.  The balustrade was used to filter the view of the mechanical components from 
the public view points and nearby residences.  Based on review of the Google Maps web site 
(reviewed July 13, 2016), the balustrade existed in 2011.  It is not known when the balustrade 
was removed but likely associated with a subsequent re-roof.     
 
Staff Analysis:  The applicant has submitted plans that show the wall would vary in height at 
various points depending on the roof pitch directly below a particular point of the sound wall.  
Where the proposed sound wall connects to the main building on the north elevation the 
proposed wall would be 32 inches tall.  As the wall sits on a sloped roof, the wall height 
increases to a height of 57 inches at the northwest corner and to up to 66 inches on the 
northeast corner of the sound wall.  The portion of the wall that runs north/south (parallel to 
Camino Real) connects at the chimney with a finished height of 60 inches.  There is also a sound 
wall segment on the south side of the kitchen exhaust between the chimney and the main 
building with a height of 32 inches on the west end and 60 inches on the east end (where the 
wall connects to the chimney).  The sound wall section lengths are as follows:  15’-0” on the 
east elevation, 10’–8” on the north elevation, 8’-10” on the west elevation, and 7’-7” on the 
south elevation.  An access door is provided and is located on the west elevation closest to the 
stucco chimney.  The total area of the project is approximately 150 square feet. 
 
As shown in the attached plans, the proposed wall will be made with a 2 x 4 stud walls with a 
stucco finish.  To maximize the sound absorbing quality of the interior wall, staff recommends 
as a project condition that the stucco surface on the interior wall have a rougher surface than 
that on the exterior wall and that some type of metal ribs (or other non-combustible material) 
be affixed in a random fashion that would “confuse” sound waves and keep as much sound as 
possible within the proposed walls.   
 
The project plans were reviewed by the City’s Historic Preservation Consultant, Mr. Kent 
Seavey, who determined that the project is appropriate for the resource and is consistent with 
the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards.  However, Mr. Seavey stated that the cap on the wall 
should be copper or a galvanized metal with powder coat the same color as the wall.  The point 
being to make the entirety of the proposed wall as innocuous, seamless, and integrated as 
possible.   
 

2 
142



DR 16-229 (La Playa) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 3 
 
As required per CMC Section 17.32.140.D, staff concludes that the proposed project complies 
with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards.  Through the building permit process staff will 
ensure that the integrity of the resource is maintained, that all character-defining features are 
maintained and that no change will be authorized what would diminish the historic resource’s 
value or result in a subsequent determination that the resource is no longer eligible for the 
Carmel Inventory applicant has adequately responded to the Commission’s recommendation 
for a building façade that adheres to the above referenced Design Guideline. 
 
Alternatives: The following alternative actions are presented for HRB consideration: 
 

1. Issue a Determination of Consistency with the Secretary of the Interior Standards for the 
proposed plans as submitted subject to the attached conditions. 

2. Approve the proposed plans with revisions. If the required revisions are substantial, the 
HRB may wish to continue this item to allow the applicant to respond to HRB direction. 

3. Deny the application request and direct the applicant to propose a new plan that is 
consistent with City design standards. 

 
Environmental Review:  The proposed project is categorically exempt from CEQA requirements, 
pursuant to Section 15303 (Class 1) – Existing Facilities - Interior or exterior alterations involving 
such things as interior partitions, plumbing and electrical conveyances.   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

• Attachment A – Site Photographs – existing conditions  
• Attachment B - Site Photographs – circa 2011 
• Attachment C – Conditions of Approval 
• Attachment D – Project Plans 

 

3 
143



144

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A - Site Photographs Existing



145

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B - Site Photos Current



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



Attachment C – Conditions of Approval 
 

AUTHORIZATION: 
 

1. This approval of Design Review (DR 16-229) authorizes tenant improvements to a 
commercial building (La Playa Hotel) to include:  (1) sound wall on first floor roof that 
surrounds the existing roof mounted kitchen exhaust system, as shown on the approved 
plan dated July 18, 2016. 
 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS: 
 

1. You are required to install tree protection, which will need to be reviewed and certified by 
the City Forester, prior to the issuance of the Building Permit.   

2. The applicant shall apply for and obtain a building permit prior to commencing work. 
3. This Design Review approval is valid for a period of eighteen months from date of 

approval, and hence, expires on January 17, 2018. 
4. The texture and paint color of the proposed sound wall will be the same as that of the 

existing La Playa walls.  
5. The applicant will cap the top of the sound wall with either a copper cap or galvanized 

metal cap that is powder coated to match the color of the existing La Playa building. 
6. The stucco surface on the interior of the box will have a rough surface and include some 

type of metal ribs affixed to the interior wall in a random fashion that would “confuse” 
sound waves and keep as much sound as possible within the proposed box.   

7. The applicant agrees, at the applicant’s sole expense, to defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City, its public officials, officers, employees, and assigns, from any liability; 
and shall reimburse the City for any expense incurred, resulting from, or in connection 
with any project approvals.  This includes any appeal, claim, suit, or other legal 
proceeding, to attack, set aside, void, or annul any project approval.  The City shall 
promptly notify the applicant of any legal proceeding, and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense.  The City may, at its sole discretion, participate in any such legal action, but 
participation shall not relieve the applicant of any obligation under this condition.  Should 
any party bring any legal action in connection with this project, the Superior Court of the 
County of Monterey, California, shall be the situs and have jurisdiction for the resolution 
of all such actions by the parties hereto. 
 

 
*Acknowledgement and acceptance of conditions of approval. 
 
 
 
____________________  __________________  __________ 
Property Owner Signature  Printed Name    Date 
 
 
 
Once signed, this form must be returned to the Community Planning and Building 
Department. 

153



154

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment D - Project Plans



155



156



157



158



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

July 18, 2016 

 
To: Chair Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, Interim Community Planning and Building Director 

Subject:  Review of a Sign Application (SI 16-284) for the installation of a new 
interpretative panel at the Golden Bough Courtyard 

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Review and provide feedback on the proposed sign. 
 
Application: HE 15-168              APN:  010-210-009 
Block:  74  Lots:   5 & 6 
Location: SE Corner of Monte Verde and Ocean  
Applicant:  Chris Tescher                     Owner: Dennis Levett 
 
Background and Project Description:  
 
The subject property is located in the former Theater of the Golden Bough in the Court of the 
Golden Bough on the SE corner of Ocean Avenue and Monte Verde Street. The property is 
developed with a two-story 1,764-square foot building, now known as the Arches Building.  The 
former Theater of the Golden Bough, designed by Edward G. Kuster, was constructed in 1924. 
Many of the neighboring Tudor style commercial buildings within the Court of the Golden 
Bough have been included on the Carmel Historic Resource Inventory for their association with 
the Golden Bough Theater, however, the theater building has been deemed ineligible due to 
loss of integrity. 
 
The property owner, Mr. Dennis Levett, has commissioned the fabrication of an in interpretive 
panel that would be located in the courtyard, adjacent to the chimney at the rear of the 
Cottage of the Sweets.  The panel includes information on history of the Theater of the Golden 
Bough and Edward G. Kuster, along with historic images of the site.  The panel would be placed 
on an approximately 2.5-foot high pedestal.  The attached plans indicates that the sign will have 

159



SI 16-284 (Golden Bough Courtyard) 
July 18, 2016 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
an area of 2’ x 1.5’, however, the applicant has indicated that the sign will be larger than what 
has been indicated.  Staff is seeking the HRB’s feedback on this proposed sign. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Attachment A – Sign Design 
 

 
160



161



162


	MEETING AGENDA
	A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	B.  TOUR OF INSPECTION
	C.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	D.  APPEARANCES
	E.   CONSENT AGENDA
	J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS
	K.  ADJOURNMENT


	MA 16-203 (Lonergan) - Packet.pdf
	ADP656B.tmp
	CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA
	RECITALS

	ADP9DCC.tmp
	RESOLUTION


	MA 16-264 (Slingerlend-Speers) - Packet.pdf
	ADP81A2.tmp
	CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA
	RECITALS

	ADPBADC.tmp
	RESOLUTION


	MA 16-269 (Holtkamp) - Packet.pdf
	ADP86C6.tmp
	CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA
	RECITALS

	ADPBFE1.tmp
	RESOLUTION


	MA 16-246 (Rheaume) - Packet.pdf
	ADPBB88.tmp
	CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA
	RECITALS

	ADPF3F8.tmp
	RESOLUTION





